
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




S:\Planning\MPS\Planning Commission Notices-Memos\Commission Notices\PC Agendas 2022\Plan Com Notice 031422.docx 


 


OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA 


Notice is hereby given that Plan Commission of the City of 


Stoughton, Wisconsin, will hold a regular or special virtual 


meeting as indicated on the date and at the time and location 


given below. 


Meeting of: PLAN COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON 


Date//Time: Monday, March 14, 2022 @ 6:00 p.m. 


 
Join Zoom Meeting 
https://zoom.us/j/94609974784?pwd=eUUyV3g3anpKSzRkQWVHTUtHT3NFQT09 


 
Phone in:  +1 312 626 6799      Meeting ID: 946 0997 4784  Passcode: 427325 


 
If you wish to call in and speak at the meeting, please register at: 
http://speak.cityofstoughton.com by 5:45 on or before the day of the meeting. Any 
written comments will be forwarded on to the “Organizer” and Commissioners. 
 


For questions regarding this notice please contact Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator 


at 608-646-0421.   
 


 


 


AGENDA 


1. Call to Order 


2. Plan Commission meeting minutes of February 14, 2022.   


3. Council Representative Report. 


4. Status of Current Developments.  


5. Public Hearing to consider a proposed project plan, boundaries and creation of Tax 


Incremental District No. 9  (See the Public Hearing Notice which was published on 


February 24, 2022 & March 3, 2022).  


6. Consideration and possible action on “Resolution Designating Proposed Boundaries 


and Approving a Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 9, City of Stoughton, 


Wisconsin” 


7. Conditional use permit for and Indoor Commercial Entertainment use at Cheeser’s, 


183/187 E. Main Street. 


 Public Hearing 


 Recommendation to Council 


8. Annexation of approximately 38.46 acres from the Town of Dunkirk (Teigen Farm). 


 Recommendation to Council 


9. Planned Development – Concept Plan for property located at the northeast corner of 


Williams Drive and Glacier Moraine Dive. 



https://zoom.us/j/94609974784?pwd=eUUyV3g3anpKSzRkQWVHTUtHT3NFQT09

http://speak.cityofstoughton.com/





S:\Planning\MPS\Planning Commission Notices-Memos\Commission Notices\PC Agendas 2022\Plan Com Notice 031422.docx 


 


10. Extra-Territorial Jurisdictional CSM at 3060 Shadyside Drive, Town of Pleasant 


Springs. 


 Recommendation to Council 


11. Zoning ordinance amendment to section 78-405(4). 


 Public Hearing 


 Recommendation to Council 


12. Discuss meeting in-person. 


13. Future agenda items. 


14. Adjournment. 
 


COMMISSIONERS:  
Mayor Tim Swadley, Chair  Tom Robinson   Todd Barman 


Brett Schumacher, Vice-Chair Tom Majewski  Phil Caravello 


Al Farrow 


 


E-MAIL NOTICES: 
Leadership Team    Council members  Steve Kittelson 


City Attorney Matt Dregne  Stoughton Hub  Area Townships  


Peter Sveum    Michael Stacey  Plan Commissioners 


smonette@stolib.org   Spencer Meier   Chamber of Commerce 


wstotv981@gmail.com     


tjones@wisconsinmediagroup.com        


 


Brian Johnson    Matthew Yetz   Kent Schroeder  


Rob Hostrawser   David Stack   Fred Swed 


Jim Ternus    David Ferris   Paula Czaplewski 


            


 


Any person wishing to attend the meeting, whom because of a disability, requires 


special accommodation, should contact the City Clerk’s Office at (608) 873-6692 at 


least 24 hours before the scheduled meeting time so appropriate arrangements can be 


made. In addition, any person wishing to speak or have their comments heard but 


does not have access to the internet should also contact the City Clerk’s Office at the 


number above at least 24 hours before the scheduled meeting so appropriate 


arrangements can be made.  



mailto:smonette@stolib.org

mailto:wstotv981@gmail.com

mailto:tjones@wisconsinmediagroup.com






 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2022\Plan Com Minutes  02-14-22.docx 


Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 


Monday, February 14, 2022 at 6:00 pm 


Virtual Meeting 


 


Members Present:  Mayor Tim Swadley, Chair; Brett Schumacher, Vice-Chair; Todd Barman; 


Phil Caravello; Al Farrow; Tom Majewski; and Tom Robinson 


Members Absent: None 


Staff:  Rodney Scheel, Director of Planning and Development; Michael Stacey, Zoning 


Administrator 


Guests: Stephen Tremlett; John Matson; Tom Matson; Bob Dvorak; Brian Spanos; Brett 


Riemen; Tami McCullough; Lawrence Coneaz; Rob Hostrawser; George Corrigan; Todd Nelson 


and Jaime Hagenow. 


 


1. Call to Order.  Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 


 


2. Consider approval of the Plan Commission meeting minutes of January 10 and 


February 7, 2022.   


Motion by Barman to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Majewski.  Motion carried 


unanimously. 


 


3. Council Representative Report.  Caravello stated the Common Council approved 


Resolutions 8, 9, 27 and 28 of 2022. 


 


4. Staff Report - Status of Current Developments. 


Scheel gave an overview of the current status of developments as outlined in the packet of 


materials.  There were no questions. 


 


5. Zoning ordinance amendment to section 78-920. 


Scheel explained the proposed ordinance amendment. 


 


Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 


 


No one registered to speak. 


 


Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 


 


Motion by Schumacher to recommend Common Council approval as presented, 2nd by 


Caravello.  Motion carried unanimously. 


 


6. Zoning ordinance amendment to section 78-904. 


Scheel explained the proposed ordinance amendment. 


 


Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 


 


No one registered to speak. 







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 


02/14/22 


Page 2 of 5 


 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2022\Plan Com Minutes  02-14-22.docx 


 


 


Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 


 


Motion by Robinson to recommend Common Council approval as presented, 2nd by 


Barman.  Motion carried unanimously. 


 


7. Animal’s ordinance creation of section 6-16. 


Scheel explained the proposed ordinance amendment. 


 


Caravello questioned if there have been any issues related to this type of use in the past.  


Scheel stated there has not been any issues. 


 


Schumacher noted he heard of a community that had problems with this type of use.  Stacey 


stated Spring Green did not have this type of language and lost a court battle trying to stop 


the use. 


 


Scheel noted there is no public hearing required since this section is not in the zoning code, 


rather it is in chapter 6. 


 


Schumacher stated we should waive the rules to allow the public to speak to this proposed 


ordinance. 


 


Jaime Hagenow spoke in favor of the ordinance amendment. 


 


Motion by Robinson to recommend Common Council approval as presented, 2nd by 


Caravello.  Motion carried unanimously. 


 


8. Conditional use review for an Indoor Commercial Entertainment use (fitness center) at 


318 S. Forrest Street. 


Scheel explained the proposed conditional use permit request. 


 


Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 


 


No one registered to speak. 


 


Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 


 


Caravello stated there may also be a daycare use at that location.  Scheel stated the daycare 


use was not mentioned but staff will follow-up and check that out. 


 


Barman questioned a fitness center being considered Indoor Commercial Entertainment.  


Scheel stated that is an area of the code that need improvement. 


 


Motion by Barman to recommend Common Council approval as presented, 2nd by 


Caravello.  Motion carried unanimously. 







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 


02/14/22 


Page 3 of 5 


 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2022\Plan Com Minutes  02-14-22.docx 


 


9. Planned Development – General Development Plan (GDP) at 51 West Development, Lot 


18. 


Scheel explained the proposed GDP request. 


 


Barman questioned what the difference is between the original GDP and current proposed 


GDP for this lot.  Scheel introduced the developer to explain the proposed changes. 


 


Brett Riemen gave an overview of the project.  Brian Spanos explained the need to move 


quickly to gain approvals and provided a list of the changes from the original GDP which 


includes: 


 An increase in impervious area allowed from 50% to 53%; 


 Maximum building height allowed from 40 feet to 45 feet; 


 Maximum ground sign square footage of 32 square feet to 50 square feet in area; 


 Maximum lighting photometrics from 0.5 footcandles to 0.8 at driveway entrance. 


 


Tami McCullough explained the reasoning for the lighting increase is for safety at the access 


points. 


 


Barman asked how many parking stalls were added by increasing the impervious area.  Tami 


McCullough stated the total exterior parking is at 100 stalls while the underground parking is 


at 148 stalls. 


 


Barman questioned if staff has seen other applications requesting higher photometrics at 


access points in the past.  Scheel stated we have not. 


 


Farrow asked if he Fire Department has been able to review the plan.  Scheel stated they have 


and have expressed favor in the good emergency vehicle access. 


 


Farrow asked the developer if crime prevention through design has been looked into.  Tamil 


McCullough stated she is aware of this and is some of the reason why the lighting is a 


concern at the access. 


 


Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 


 


No one registered to speak. 


 


Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 


 


Motion by Robinson to recommend Common Council approval as presented, 2nd by 


Schumacher. 


 


Barman suggested using the lighting exception be used as a test case for photometrics going 


forward.   


 


Mayor Swadley stated the building height requirement may need to be looked at in the future. 







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 


02/14/22 


Page 4 of 5 


 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2022\Plan Com Minutes  02-14-22.docx 


 


Majewski would like to see Stoughton move closer to dark sky requirements and is not in 


favor of an exception being granted to allow more lighting at the property line. 


 


Motion carried 6 – 1 (Majewski is opposed). 


 


10. Site Plan Amendment – Dumpster Enclosure at Dollar Tree, 1008 Nygaard Street. 


Scheel explained the request. 


 


Todd Nelson was available for questions. 


 


Schumacher questioned the other onsite non-compliances.  Scheel stated there are non-


compliances staff is working through with the owner related to landscaping and stormwater 


management.  There is a plan in place to work through these issues this coming spring. 


 


Motion by Robinson to approve the enclosure as presented, 2nd by Schumacher.   Motion 


carried unanimously. 


 


11. Stone Crest Subdivision Concept Plan. 


Scheel introduced the concept plan and phasing. 


 


Steve Tremlett explained the overall concept and street connectivity. 


 


The following are brief comments made about the overall concept plan: 


 


 Concern about emergency vehicle and public works access especially at the eyebrow 


off Fall Haven and Autumn Crest; 


 Like the larger park; 


 Speed limit and safety concerns at County Hwy A; 


 Would like to see residential lot separation from the large park; 


 Recreation is all on one end of the development; 


 Park serves existing and future development areas; 


 Not in favor of commercial uses along US Hwy 51; 


 Comp Plan would allow for a mix of uses along US Hwy 51; 


 Not in favor of the poor visibility and curve at the entrance and exit point of County 


Road A; 


 Access design will need to be refined going forward; 


 Concerns about emergency response access relative to phasing; 


 


Steve Tremlett gave an overview of phase 3 including: 


 Lot 2 is proposed for duplex condos’ 


 Lot 1 is planned for multi-family with potential for multi-stories and underground 


parking; 


 Lot 1 is shown with a connection to County Hwy A and a connection to Fall Haven 


through a wetland; 







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 


02/14/22 


Page 5 of 5 


 


T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Plan Commission\2022\Plan Com Minutes  02-14-22.docx 


 


Scheel stated some comments from staff include: 


 A temporary Cul-de-sac will likely be necessary at Fall Haven; 


 Need to make sure garage trucks can access site; 


 Trail safety and phasing is a concern. 


 


The following were comments made about the phase 3 concept: 


 Ex. Lot is proposed to be a duplex lot is the stormwater can be managed elsewhere; 


 Not in favor of filling a wetland; 


 Wetland is not a quality wetland rather it is caused by a storm culvert; 


 Timing of the development was discussed with phase 3 possibly happening this year 


and more phases to follow in coming years. 


 


12. Eldon Homes (Teigen Farm) Subdivision Concept Plan. 


Scheel gave an introduction of the concept plan and noted the property will need to be 


annexed and added to the City Urban Service Area. 


 


Steve Tremlett explained the concept plan and street connectivity. 


 


The following were comments made about the concept plan: 


 Trail system should connect to Aaker Road; 


 Maintenance of the dog ear in the SE corner of the plan was discussed and most not 


in favor of the City taking over maintenance; 


 Prefer the grass in the dog ear but maintenance better if by a neighborhood 


association; 


 Most like overall layout; 


 Number of exits/entrances to the site is favorable; 


 Vision at Isham and Fourth Street should be addressed. 


 


13. Future agenda items. 


Scheel stated TID 9 and SIP for Lot 18 will be coming in March.   


Schumacher would like to make sure emergency services have a chance to review all new 


developments to make sure the departments such as Police are well staffed going forward.  


Mayor Swadley stated there is continued discussions regarding future staffing needs. 


 


14. Adjournment. 


Motion by Schumacher to adjourn at 7:40 pm, 2nd by Robinson.  Motion carried 


unanimously. 


 


Respectfully Submitted,  


 


Michael P. Stacey 








S:\Planning\MPS\Planning Commission Notices-Memos\Staff Reviews\Staff Reviews 2022\Status of development 031422.doc 


CITY OF STOUGHTON RODNEY J. SCHEEL 


DEPARTMENT OF   DIRECTOR 


PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


(608) 873-6619     www.cityofstoughton.com/planning 


Date: March 8, 2022 


To: Plan Commission Members 


From: Rodney J. Scheel 


Director of Planning & Development 


Michael Stacey 


Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 


Subject: Status of Current Developments 


Status of Development: 


• Sinobec Resources – Landscaping and lighting due this spring.
• Stoughton Utilities Substation on McComb Road – Paving left to do


• Grosso Commercial Buildings – 441 Glacier Moraine Drive – Buildings under construction


• Mixed Use Building at 700 Nygaard Street –Landscaping left to do in spring.


• Riverfront Development – SIP approved


• 2501 Jackson Street - under construction


• Dvorak - 51 West Development – Final Plat not yet recorded, GDP not yet effective


• Dollar Tree – Landscaping, lighting, dumpster enclosure and stormwater non-compliances


• Pizza Hut - 1400 US Hwy 51 – Landscaping left to do this spring


• 314 W. Main Street – under construction


• Weebleworld 2nd building – nearing completion



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





City of Stoughton - Building & Zoning Activity 2022 


COMMERCIAL 
Building Activity 
Type 


# of Permits 
February 2022 


February $ Fees 
Collected 


YTD # of 
Permits 


YTD $ Fees 
Collected 


YTD 
Construction 
Values 


Addition 0 $0 0 $0 $0 
New 
Construction - 
Building 


0 $0 0 $0 $0 


New 
Construction - 
Other 


1 $284 1 $284 $0 


Remodel/Repair 5 $875 15 $2,240 $194,725 
Zoning 4 $720 10 $2,215 $25,641 
Grand Total 10 $1,879 26 $4,739 $220,366 


RESIDENTIAL 
Building Activity 
Type 


# of Permits 
February 2022 


February $ 
Fees Collected 


YTD # of 
Permits 


YTD $ Fees 
Collected 


YTD 
Construction 
Values 


Addition 1 $160 2 $375 $114,743 
New 
Construction -  
Dwelling 


4 $7,245 6 $10,732 $2,062,000 


New 
Construction - 
Other 


1 $160 1 $160 $500 


Remodel/Repair 26 $4,183 48 $6,083 $671,940 
Zoning 5 $8,759 9 $9,579 $100 
Grand Total 37 $20,507 66 $26,929 $2,849,283 


 
 


 City of Stoughton 


For more information, please contact: Desi Weum – Administrative Assistant 
(608) 646-0159 or dweum@ci.stoughton.wi.us







City of Stoughton - Building & Zoning Activity 2022 


 City of Stoughton  S:\Planning\Desi\Monthly Permit Report\February 2022.docx 


0


0


0


1


0


0


5


30


2


1


0


1


0


4


1


1


5


26


4


5


0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35


Commercial Addition


Residential Addition


Commercial New Construction-Buildings


Residential New Construction-Dwelling


Commercial New Construction- Other


Residential New Construction - Other


Commercial Remodel/Repair


Residential Remodel/Repair


Commercial Zoning


Residential Zoning


Number of Permits Issued


Bu
ild


in
g 


Ac
tiv


ity
 T


yp
e


Monthly Permit Data


February-22


February-21


0


0


0


4


0


0


10


66


8


4


0


2


0


6


1


1


15


48


10


9


0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70


Commercial Addition


Residential Addition


Commercial New Construction-Buildings


Residential New Construction-Dwellings


Commercial New Construction - Other


Residential New Construction - Other


Commercial Remodel/Repair


Residential Remodel/Repair


Commercial Zoning


Residential Zoning


Number of Permits 


Bu
ild


in
g 


Ac
tiv


ity
 T


yp
e


Yearly Permits Issued to Date


YEAR 2022


YEAR 2021








 


 
 
February 14, 2022 
 
 
 
Stoughton Courier Hub 
ATTN: Legal Publications    


3 pages via E-MAIL @ unglegals@wcinet.com 
 
 
RE:     City of Stoughton Legal Notice Publication 
 
 
Attached is a Legal Notice publication for the City of Stoughton Wisconsin, to be published as a Legal 
Notice in the February 24, and March 3, 2022 issues.   
 
Please send an affidavit, as well as a copy of the actual publication, of publication to (via e-mail or 
snail mail): 
   
 Paula Czaplewski, Senior Public Finance Analyst - TIF 
 Ehlers 
 N21 W23350 Ridgeview Parkway West 
 Waukesha, WI  53188 
 pczaplewski@ehlers-inc.com 
 
Please send the invoice for publication and an affidavit of publication to: 
  
 Candee J. Christen, City Clerk 
 City of Stoughton  
 207 S. Forrest Street 
 Stoughton, WI 53589 
 
If you have any questions, please call either Paula Czaplewski or myself at 800-552-1171. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
EHLERS 
 


 
 
Dave Ferris, CIPMA 
Senior Municipal Advisor 
 
cc:   Candee J. Christen, City Clerk  
 Mayor Tim Swadley 
 Rodney Scheel, Director of Planning & Development 
 Phil Cosson, Senior Municipal Advisor, Ehlers 
  Paula Czaplewski, Senior Public Finance Analyst - TIF, Ehlers 
  Annie Mallon, Public Finance Analyst, Ehlers 
 



mailto:unglegals@wcinet.com

mailto:pczaplewski@ehlers-inc.com





 


 


NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING  
AND JOINT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 


IN THE CITY OF STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 
 
  Notice is Hereby Given that the City of Stoughton will hold an organizational Joint Review 
Board meeting on March 14, 2022 at 5:00 p.m.   
 
  The purpose of this meeting is to organize a Joint Review Board for purposes of 
considering the proposed creation of, and proposed project plan for, Tax Incremental District No. 
9 (the “District”). 


 
The Joint Review Board meeting will be held at the Stoughton City Hall, located at 207 S. 


Forrest Street.  You may also attend remotely via Zoom Meeting using the following information: 
 


https://zoom.us/j/96244427550?pwd=ZVBEZytHZTlKZ01HM3luL2d1Wmg0QT09 
 
Meeting ID: 962 4442 7550 
Passcode: 879475  
 
Notice is Hereby Given that the Plan Commission of the City of Stoughton will hold a public 


hearing on March 14, 2022 at 6:00 p.m. for the purpose of providing the community a reasonable 
opportunity to comment upon the proposed creation of the Project Plan for the District.   


 
The Plan Commission meeting will only be held virtually via Zoom Meeting using the 


following information: 
 


Join Zoom Meeting 
https://zoom.us/j/94609974784?pwd=eUUyV3g3anpKSzRkQWVHTUtHT3NFQT09 
 
Meeting ID: 946 0997 4784 
Passcode: 427325 


 
The proposed boundaries of the District would be within an area generally detailed on the 


map inset.    
 


 The District is expected to be a mixed-use district based on the identification and 
classification of the property proposed to be included within the District.   


 
Proposed projects costs include 


various public improvements and cash grants 
to owners or lessee or developers of land 
located within the district (development 
incentives) and professional and 
organizational services, administrative costs, 
and finance costs.   The proposed costs 
include projects within the proposed boundary 
and within a ½ mile radius of the proposed 
boundary of the District.   
 



https://zoom.us/j/96244427550?pwd=ZVBEZytHZTlKZ01HM3luL2d1Wmg0QT09

https://zoom.us/j/94609974784?pwd=eUUyV3g3anpKSzRkQWVHTUtHT3NFQT09





 


 


 All interested parties will be given a reasonable opportunity to express their views on the 
proposed creation of the District, the proposed boundaries of the District, and the proposed 
Project Plan thereof.  A copy of the Project Plan, including a description of the proposed 
boundaries, will be available for viewing in the offices of the City Clerk at the Stoughton City Hall, 
located at 207 S. Forrest Street during normal business hours and also by viewing the respective 
meeting packets found at www.stoughtoncitydocs.com and will be provided upon request. 
 
 Such hearing shall be public and citizens and interested parties shall then be heard.  This 
hearing may be adjourned from time to time.  
 


By Order of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin 
 


Published February 24 & March 3, 2022 
 
 


 







AGENDA LANGUAGE 
 


TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT ITEMS  
FOR 


PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 
 


TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 9 CREATION 
 
 


March 14, 2022 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
 


The Plan Commission meeting will only be held virtually via Zoom Meeting 
using the following information: 


 
Join Zoom Meeting 


https://zoom.us/j/94609974784?pwd=eUUyV3g3anpKSzRkQWVHTUtHT3NFQT09 
 


Meeting ID: 946 0997 4784 
Passcode: 427325 


 
 
 
 
 


A. Public Hearing regarding the proposed project plan, boundaries and creation of Tax 
Incremental District No. 9  (See the Public Hearing Notice which was published on February 
24, 2022 & March 3, 2022). 


 
B. Consideration and possible action on “Resolution Designating Proposed Boundaries and 


Approving a Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 9, City of Stoughton, Wisconsin”. 



https://zoom.us/j/94609974784?pwd=eUUyV3g3anpKSzRkQWVHTUtHT3NFQT09





Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 1 


       
 
 


March 14, 2022 


 


PROJECT PLAN 
 


 City of Stoughton, 
Wisconsin 


Tax Incremental District No. 9 


(51 West Development) 
 


 
 


Prepared by: 


Ehlers  


N21W23350 Ridgeview Parkway West, 


Suite 100 


Waukesha, WI 53188 


 


BUILDING COMMUNITIES. IT’S WHAT WE DO. 
 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 2 
 


KEY DATES 
 


Organizational Joint Review Board Meeting Held: 


 


Scheduled for 3/14/22 


Public Hearing Held: Scheduled for 3/14/22 


Approval by Plan Commission: Scheduled for 3/14/22 


Adoption by Common Council: Scheduled for 4/12/22 


Approval by the Joint Review Board: TBD 


 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 


 


Executive Summary .............................................................................................................................. 3 


Preliminary Map of Proposed District Boundary ....................................................................... 6 


Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions ............................................................................... 8 


Preliminary Parcel List and Analysis ............................................................................................ 10 


Equalized Value Test .......................................................................................................................... 11 


Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All Proposed Public Works or 
Improvements Within the District ................................................................................................. 12 


Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses ................................................................... 18 


Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs .................................................................................... 21 


Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods of Financing Estimated 
Project Costs and the Time When Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be 
Incurred ................................................................................................................................................... 23 


Annexed Property ............................................................................................................................... 28 


Estimate of Property to Be Devoted to Retail Business ....................................................... 28 


Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, Map, Building Codes and 
City Ordinances .................................................................................................................................... 28 


How Creation of the Tax Incremental District Promotes the Orderly Development 
of the City ............................................................................................................................................... 29 


List of Estimated Non-Project Costs ............................................................................................ 29 


Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete and Complies with Wis. Stat. 
§ 66.1105(4)(f) ...................................................................................................................................... 30 


Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments Estimated to be Paid by the 
Owners of Property in the Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions ................................................. 32 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 3 
 


SECTION 1: 


Executive Summary 


Description of District 
Tax Incremental District (“TID”) No. 9 (“District”) is a proposed Mixed-Use 
District comprising approximately 76 acres located on the City’s northwest 
side.  The District is located just south of Rutland-Dunn Town Line Road and 
split by US Highway 51. The District will be created to pay the costs of a 
development incentive and necessary City infrastructure needed for mixed use 
purposes (“Project”) to be developed by RHD Properties, LLC (“Developer”).  


The Project is comprised of commercial lots and residential lots.  It is estimated 
to provide 9 single family lots and approximately 348 multi-family units 
including a mix of multifamily, duplex and condo developments.  In addition, 
the District will provide parks and recreation along with stormwater 
management facilities. 


Authority 
The City is creating the District under the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 66.1105.  


Estimated Total Project Cost Expenditures 
The City anticipates making total expenditures of approximately $15,314,552 
(“Project Costs”) to undertake the projects listed in this Project Plan (“Plan”). 
The primary project cost is a $8,600,000 developer incentive to reduce the 
financial gap for infrastructure installation and a developer incentive of 
$3,262,152 to fund the financial gap for the affordable housing development.  
The developer incentive will be provided on a “pay-as-you-go” basis meaning 
the developer is required to complete the project and all related public 
improvements before a developer incentive is paid by the City.  A developer 
incentive is subject to approval of a development agreement by the City 
Council. 


Incremental Valuation 
The City projects that new land and improvements value of approximately 
$45,219,668 will result from the Project. Creation of this additional value will be 
made possible by the Project Costs made within the District. A table detailing 
assumption’s as to the development timing and associated values is included in 
the Economic Feasibility Study located within this Plan. 


Expected Termination of District   
Based on the Economic Feasibility Study located within Section 9 of this Plan, 
the City anticipates that the District will generate sufficient tax increment to 
pay all Project Costs within its allowable 20 years. 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 4 
 


Summary of Findings 
As required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105, and as documented in this Plan and the 
exhibits contained and referenced herein, the following findings are made: 


1. That “but for” the creation of this District, the development projected to 
occur as detailed in this Plan: 1) would not occur; or 2) would not occur in 
the manner, at the values, or within the timeframe desired by the City. In 
reaching this determination, the City has considered the following: 


A review of the Project’s sources and uses, and cash flow proforma is being 
undertaken by the City to perform its due diligence regarding the “but for” 
test. The review will look at the Project’s projected return on investment to 
determine if the amount the Developer has requested is necessary to 
provide an acceptable return on investment and indicates that “but for” the 
incentives, the project would not likely proceed.  The results of this review 
will be incorporated into the project plan in time for consideration by the 
City Council.  


In addition, the City anticipates required infrastructure to be installed by the 
City.  Absent the use of tax incremental financing, the City is unable to fully 
fund this program of infrastructure improvements. 


2. The economic benefits of the District, as measured by increased 
employment, business and personal income, and property value, are 
sufficient to compensate for the cost of the improvements. In making this 
determination, the City has considered that the Developer is likely to 
purchase goods and services from local suppliers in construction of the 
Project, and induced effects of employee households spending locally for 
goods and services from retailers, restaurants and service companies. 


The expectation is that the Project will provide housing opportunities that 
may create employment opportunities to workers within the area of the TID 
or other parts of the City once the Project is fully operational. 


3. The benefits of the proposal outweigh the anticipated tax increments to be 
paid by the owners of property in the overlying taxing jurisdictions. As 
required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(i)4., a calculation of the share of 
projected tax increments estimated to be paid by the owners of property in 
the overlying taxing jurisdictions has been prepared and can be found in this 
Plan. However, because the Project would not occur without the use of tax 
incremental financing, these tax increments would not be paid but for 
creation of the District. Accordingly, the City finds that the benefits 
expected to be realized as set forth in this Plan outweigh the value of the 
tax increments to be invested in the Project. 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 5 
 


4. Not less than 50% by area of the real property within the District is suitable 
for mixed use development as defined by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(cm). Lands 
proposed for newly-platted residential development comprise no more than 
35% (actual per plan, 29.28%) of the real property area within the District. 
Costs related to newly-platted residential development may be incurred 
based on the proposed development having a density of at least three (3) 
units per acre as defined in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)3.a. 


5. Based on the foregoing finding, the District is designated as a mixed-use 
district. 


6. The Project Costs relate directly to promoting mixed use development in 
the District, consistent with the purpose for which the District is created.  


7. Improvements to be made in the District are likely to significantly enhance 
the value of substantially all of the other real property in the District.  


8. The equalized value of taxable property in the District, plus the incremental 
value of all existing tax incremental districts within the City does not exceed 
12% of the total equalized value of taxable property within the City.  


9. The City estimates that less than 35% of the territory within the District will 
be devoted to retail business at the end of the District’s maximum 
expenditure period, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(5)(b).  


10. That there are no parcels to be included within the District that were 
annexed by the City within the preceding three-year period.  


11. The Plan for the District is feasible and is in conformity with the 
Comprehensive Plan of the City. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 6 
 


SECTION 2: 
Preliminary Map of Proposed District Boundary 


Map Found on Following Page. 


To the extent District boundaries include wetlands identified on a map 
prepared under Wis. Stat. § 23.32, the wetlands are excluded from the District.   


The District does include a very small amount of wetlands, however the 
wetlands do not appear on the National or Wisconsin Wetland inventory and a 
federal exemption to fill them has been approved by the Wisconsin DNR.  
Wetland acreage for this plan is included in the District. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 7 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 8 


SECTION 3:  
Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions 


Map Found on Following Page. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 9 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 10 
 


SECTION 4:  
Preliminary Parcel List and Analysis 


 


 


 


 


  


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9
Base Property Information


Map 
Ref# Parcel Number Street Address Owner Acreage


Annexed 
Post 


1/1/04?   
...Indicate 


date


Part of Existing 
TID?    …Indicate 


TID #


Land Imp PP Total
Equalized 


Value Ratio Land Imp Total
Commercial/ 


Business Institutional
Newly Platted 


Residential
Suitable for 
Mixed Use


1 51001180412 1547 US HIGHWAY 51 RHD PROPERTIES LLC 33.40 No No 10,400 0 0 10,400 99.00% 10,505 0 10,505 13.7270 8.0800 11.5930 33.40
2 51001185012 N/A RHD PROPERTIES LLC 17.90 No No 14,100 0 0 14,100 99.00% 14,242 0 14,242 13.4800 4.4200 17.90
3 51106285012 N/A RHD PROPERTIES LLC 0.50 No No 100 0 0 100 99.00% 101 0 101 0.5000 0.50
4 51106286012 N/A RHD PROPERTIES LLC 1.60 No No 4,700 0 0 4,700 99.00% 4,747 0 4,747 1.6000 1.60
5 51106286522 N/A RHD PROPERTIES LLC 16.90 No No 5,300 0 0 5,300 99.00% 5,354 0 5,354 10.4510 6.4490 16.90


ROW N/A N/A N/A 6.41 N/A N/A 0 0 0 0 99.00% 0 0 0 6.41 0 6.41


Total Acreage 76.71 34,600 0 0 34,600 34,949 0 13.727 40.521 22.464 76.712
17.89% 52.82% 29.28% 100.00%


The above values are as of January 1, 2021.   Actual base value certification of the territory will be based on January 1, 2022 assessed values. Estimated Base Value 34,949


Property Information Assessment Information Equalized Value District Classification







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 11 


SECTION 5:  
Equalized Value Test 


The following calculations demonstrate that the City expects to be in 
compliance with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(gm)4.c., which requires that the 
equalized value of the taxable property in the proposed District, plus the value 
increment of all existing tax incremental districts, does not exceed 12% of the 
total equalized value of taxable property within the City.  


The equalized value of the increment of existing tax incremental districts within 
the City, plus the base value of the proposed District, totals $54,999,149. This 
value is less than the maximum of $160,953,372 in equalized value that is 
permitted for the City. 


 


District Creation Date 3/8/2022


Valuation Data
Currently Available


2021
Total EV (TID In) 1,341,278,100


12% Test 160,953,372


Increment of Existing TIDs
TID #4 7,905,100
TID #5 3,214,400
TID #6 3,191,400
TID #7 40,319,500
TID #8 333,800


Total Existing Increment 54,964,200


Projected Base of New or Amended District 34,949


Total Value Subject to 12% Test 54,999,149


Compliance PASS


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9


Valuation Test Compliance Calculation


TID #8







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 12 
 


SECTION 6:  


Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location 
of All Proposed Public Works or Improvements 
Within the District 


Project Costs are any expenditure made, estimated to be made, or monetary 
obligations incurred or estimated to be incurred as outlined in this Plan. Project 
Costs will be diminished by any income, special assessments or other revenues, 
including user fees or charges, other than tax increments, received or 
reasonably expected to be received in connection with the implementation of 
the Plan. If Project Costs incurred benefit territory outside the District, a 
proportionate share of the cost is not a Project Cost. Costs identified in this 
Plan are preliminary estimates made prior to design considerations and are 
subject to change after planning, design and construction is completed. 


With all Project Costs, the costs of engineering, design, survey, inspection, 
materials, construction, restoring property to its original condition, apparatus 
necessary for public works, legal and other consultant fees, testing, 
environmental studies, permits, updating City ordinances and plans, judgments 
or claims for damages and other expenses are included as Project Costs. 


The following is a list of public works and other tax incremental financing 
eligible Project Costs that the City expects to make, or may need to make, in 
conjunction with the implementation of the District’s Plan. The map found in 
Section 7 of this Plan along with the Detailed List of Project Costs found in 
Section 8 provide additional information as to the kind, number and location of 
potential Project Costs. 


Property, Right-of-Way and Easement Acquisition 


Property Acquisition for Development 


To promote and facilitate development the City may acquire property within 
the District. The cost of property acquired, and any costs associated with the 
transaction, are eligible Project Costs. Following acquisition, other Project 
Costs within the categories detailed in this Section may be incurred to make 
the property suitable for development.  Any revenue received by the City from 
the sale of property acquired pursuant to the execution of this Plan will be used 
to reduce the total project costs of the District.  If total Project Costs incurred 
by the City to acquire property and make it suitable for development exceed 
the revenues or other consideration received from the sale or lease of that 
property, the net amount shall be considered “real property assembly costs” as 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 13 
 


defined in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1.c., and subject to recovery as an eligible 
Project Cost. 


Acquisition of Rights-of-Way 


The City may need to acquire property to allow for installation of streets, 
driveways, sidewalks, utilities, stormwater management practices and other 
public infrastructure. Costs incurred by the City to identify, negotiate and 
acquire rights-of-way are eligible Project Costs. 


Acquisition of Easements 


The City may need to acquire temporary or permanent easements to allow for 
installation and maintenance of streets, driveways, sidewalks, utilities, 
stormwater management practices and other public infrastructure.  Costs 
incurred by the City to identify, negotiate and acquire easement rights are 
eligible Project Costs. 


Relocation Costs 


If relocation expenses are incurred in conjunction with the acquisition of 
property, those expenses are eligible Project Costs. These costs may include, 
but are not limited to: preparation of a relocation plan; allocations of staff time; 
legal fees; publication of notices; obtaining appraisals; and payment of 
relocation benefits as required by Wis. Stat. Chapter 32 and Wis. Admin. Code 
ADM 92. 


Site Preparation Activities 


Environmental Audits and Remediation 


If it becomes necessary to evaluate any land or improvement within the District, 
any cost incurred by the City related to environmental audits, testing, and 
remediation are eligible Project Costs. 


Demolition 


To make sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs related to 
demolition and removal of structures or other land improvements, to include 
abandonment of wells or other existing utility services. 


Site Grading 


Land within the District may require grading to make it suitable for 
development, to provide access, and to control stormwater runoff.  The City 
may need to remove and dispose of excess material, or bring in fill material to 
provide for proper site elevations. Expenses incurred by the City for site 
grading are eligible Project Costs. 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 14 
 


Utilities 


Sanitary Sewer System Improvements 


To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild 
or expand sanitary sewer infrastructure within the District.  Eligible Project 
Costs include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or 
expansion of: collection mains; manholes and cleanouts; service laterals; force 
mains; interceptor sewers; pumping stations; lift stations; wastewater treatment 
facilities; and all related appurtenances. To the extent sanitary sewer projects 
undertaken within the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the 
District, the City will make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those 
costs corresponding to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project 
Costs. Implementation of the Project Plan may also require that the City 
construct, alter, rebuild or expand sanitary sewer infrastructure located outside 
of the District. That portion of the costs of sanitary sewer system projects 
undertaken outside the District which are necessitated by the implementation 
of the Project Plan are eligible Project Costs. The improvements to the 
wastewater treatment facilities, although not within the ½ mile radius, is an 
eligible project cost under Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1 k. 


Water System Improvements 


To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild 
or expand water system infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project Costs 
include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or expansion 
of: distribution mains; manholes and valves; hydrants; service laterals; pumping 
stations; wells; water treatment facilities; storage tanks and reservoirs; and all 
related appurtenances. To the extent water system projects undertaken within 
the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the District, the City will 
make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those costs corresponding 
to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and necessitated by the 
implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project Costs.  Implementation 
of the Project Plan may also require that the City construct, alter, rebuild or 
expand water system infrastructure located outside of the District.  That 
portion of the costs of water system projects undertaken outside the District 
which are necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan are eligible 
Project Costs. 


Stormwater Management System Improvements 


Development within the District will cause stormwater runoff. To manage this 
stormwater runoff, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild or expand 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 15 
 


stormwater management infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project 
Costs include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or 
expansion of: stormwater collection mains; inlets, manholes and valves; service 
laterals; ditches; culvert pipes; box culverts; bridges; stabilization of stream and 
river banks; and infiltration, filtration and detention Best Management Practices 
(BMP’s). To the extent stormwater management system projects undertaken 
within the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the District, the City 
will make an allocation of costs based on such benefit.  Those costs 
corresponding to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project 
Costs.  Implementation of the Project Plan may also require that the City 
construct, alter, rebuild or expand stormwater management infrastructure 
located outside of the District. That portion of the costs of stormwater 
management system projects undertaken outside the District which are 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan are eligible Project 
Costs. 


Electric Service 


To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade electric services. Relocation may require abandonment and 
removal of existing poles or towers, installation of new poles or towers, or 
burying of overhead electric lines.  Costs incurred by the City to undertake this 
work are eligible Project Costs. 


Gas Service 


To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade gas mains and services. Costs incurred by the City to 
undertake this work are eligible Project Costs. 


Communications Infrastructure 


To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade infrastructure required for voice and data communications, 
including, but not limited to:  telephone lines, cable lines and fiber optic cable. 
Costs incurred by the City to undertake this work are eligible Project Costs. 


Streets and Streetscape 


Street Improvements 


To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct or reconstruct 
streets, highways, alleys, access drives and parking areas. Eligible Project Costs 
include, but are not limited to: excavation; removal or placement of fill;  
construction of road base; asphalt or concrete paving or repaving;  installation 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 16 
 


of curb and gutter; installation of sidewalks and bicycle lanes; installation of 
culverts, box culverts and bridges; rail crossings and signals; utility relocation, 
to include burying overhead utility lines; street lighting; installation of traffic 
control signage and traffic signals; pavement marking; right-of-way restoration; 
installation of retaining walls; and installation of fences, berms, and landscaping. 


Streetscaping and Landscaping 


To attract development consistent with the objectives of this Plan, the City may 
install amenities to enhance development sites, rights-of-way and other public 
spaces. These amenities include, but are not limited to: landscaping; lighting of 
streets, sidewalks, parking areas and public areas; installation of planters, 
benches, clocks, tree rings, trash receptacles and similar items; and installation 
of brick or other decorative walks, terraces and street crossings. These and any 
other similar amenities installed by the City are eligible Project Costs. 


Community Development 


Cash Grants (Development Incentives)  


The City may enter into agreements with property owners, lessees, or 
developers of land located within the District for sharing costs to encourage 
the desired kind of improvements and assure tax base is generated sufficient 
to recover Project Costs. No cash grants will be provided until the City executes 
a developer agreement with the recipient of the cash grant.  Any payments of 
cash grants made by the City are eligible Project Costs. 


Miscellaneous 


Projects Outside the Tax Increment District 


Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1.n, the City may undertake projects within 
territory located within one-half mile of the boundary of the District provided 
that: 1) the project area is located within the City’s corporate boundaries; and 
2) the projects are approved by the Joint Review Board. The cost of projects 
completed outside the District pursuant to this section are eligible project 
costs, and may include any project cost that would otherwise be eligible if 
undertaken within the District. The City intends to make the following project 
cost expenditures outside the District: 


• 51 Corridor Enhanced Pedestrian Features, $30,600 
• 51 Corridor Wider Sidewalks, $306,000 
• 51 Corridor Lighting, $486,540 
• 51 Corridor Trees and Landscaping, $102,000 
• 51 Corridor Underpass, $2,070,000  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 17 
 


Professional Service and Organizational Costs 


The costs of professional services rendered, and other costs incurred, in relation 
to the creation, administration and termination of the District, and the 
undertaking of the projects contained within this Plan, are eligible Project Costs. 
Professional services include but are not limited to: architectural; 
environmental; planning; engineering; legal; audit; financial; and the costs of 
informing the public with respect to the creation of the District and the 
implementation of the Plan. 


Administrative Costs 


The City may charge to the District as eligible Project Costs reasonable 
allocations of administrative costs, including, but not limited to, employee 
salaries. Costs allocated will bear a direct connection to the time spent by City 
employees relating to the implementation of the Plan. 


Financing Costs 


Interest expense, debt issuance expenses, redemption premiums, and any other 
fees and costs incurred in conjunction with obtaining financing for projects 
undertaken under this Plan are eligible Project Costs. 


 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 18 
 


SECTION 7:  
Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses 


Map Found on Following Page. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 19 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 20 
 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 21 


SECTION 8:  
Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs 


The list on the next page identifies the Project Costs that the City currently 
expects to incur in implementing the District’s Plan. All projects identified and 
related costs reflect the best estimates available as of the date of preparation 
of this Plan. All costs are preliminary estimates and may increase or decrease. 
Certain Project Costs listed may become unnecessary, and other Project Costs 
not currently identified may need to be made. (Section 6 details the general 
categories of eligible Project Costs). Changes in Project Cost totals or the types 
of Project Costs to be incurred will not require that this Plan be amended. This 
Plan is not meant to be a budget nor an appropriation of funds for specific 
Project Costs, but a framework within which to manage Project Costs. 


 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 22 


 


 


 


 


  


Project 1/2 Mile Percentage TID Non TID
Year Projects in 1/2 Mile Amount Costs


Project ID Project Name/Type See Note 1


1 Developer Incentive 2024 - 2041 No NA 8,600,000 0
2 Affordable Housing Incentive 2026 - 2043 No NA 3,262,152 0
3 Rutland-Dunn Intersection 2025 - 2026 No NA 294,000 0
4 51 Corridor Enhanced Pedestrian Features2 2025 - 2026 Yes 85% 36,000 0
5 51 Corridor Wider Sidewalks2 2025 - 2026 Yes 85% 360,000 0
6 51 Corridor Lighting2 2025 - 2026 Yes 85% 572,400 0
7 51 Corridor Trees and Landscaping2 2025 - 2026 Yes 85% 120,000 0
8 51 Corridor Underpass3 TBD Yes 100% 2,070,000 0


Total Projects 15,314,552 0


Notes:
Note 1 Project costs are estimates and are subject to modification
Note 2 The 2025/2026 51 Corridor Improvements are estimated to be financed with a debt issue in 2025.
Note 3 The underpass will be constructed based upon approval by the City Council and available increment revenue.


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9


Estimated Project List







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 23 


SECTION 9:  
Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the 
Methods of Financing Estimated Project Costs and 
the Time When Related Costs or Monetary 
Obligations are to be Incurred 


This Section includes a forecast of the valuation increases expected within the 
District, the associated tax increment collections, a summary of how Project 
Costs would be financed, and a projected cash flow demonstrating that the 
District is economically feasible. 


 


Key Assumptions 


The Project Costs the City plans to make are expected to create $45 million in 
incremental value by the end of 2030. Estimated valuations and timing for 
construction of the Project are included in Table 1. Assuming the City’s current 
equalized TID Interim tax rate of $20.64 per thousand of equalized value, and 
no economic appreciation or depreciation, the Project would generate $16.6 
million in incremental tax revenue over the 20-year term of the District as 
shown in Table 2. 


 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 24 


Table 1 – Development Assumptions 


 


 


  


Actual
Multifamily 


Housing
Affordable 


Housing
Commercial


Condominium 
Housing


Duplex 
Housing


Single Family 
Housing


Annual Total


1 2022 9,930,600 865,398 10,795,998 2022 1
2 2023 593,698 593,698 2023 2
3 2024 2,398,543 6,500,000 4,229,678 13,128,221 2024 3
4 2025 2,500,000 673,644 3,173,644 2025 4
5 2026 7,519,003 1,571,574 608,452 9,699,029 2026 5
6 2027 619,318 619,318 2027 6
7 2028 923,544 923,544 2028 7
8 2029 3,143,148 3,143,148 2029 8
9 2030 3,143,068 3,143,068 2030 9


10 2031 0 2031 10
11 2032 0 2032 11
12 2033 0 2033 12
13 2034 0 2034 13
14 2035 0 2035 14
15 2036 0 2036 15
16 2037 0 2037 16
17 2038 0 2038 17
18 2039 0 2039 18
19 2040 0 2040 19
20 2041 0 2041 20


Totals 0 12,329,143 9,000,000 11,748,681 7,857,790 1,459,096 2,824,958 45,219,668


Notes:


Construction Year Construction Year


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9
Development Assumptions







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 25 
 


Table 2 – Tax Increment Projection Worksheet 


  


Type of District Base Value 34,949
District Creation Date Appreciation Factor 0.50%


Valuation Date Jan 1, 2022 Base Tax Rate $20.64
Max Life (Years) Rate Adjustment Factor 0.00%


Expenditure Period/Termination 15 3/8/2037
Revenue Periods/Final Year 20 2043


Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3 Tax Exempt Discount Rate 2.00%
Eligible Recipient District Taxable Discount Rate 3.50%


Construction 
Year


Value 
Added


Valuation 
Year


Inflation 
Increment


Total 
Increment


Revenue 
Year Tax Rate Tax Increment


Tax Exempt 
NPV 


Calculation
Taxable NPV 
Calculation


1 2022 10,795,998 2023 0 10,795,998 2024 $20.64 222,853 209,999 201,001
2 2023 593,698 2024 53,980 11,443,676 2025 $20.64 236,222 428,232 406,855
3 2024 13,128,221 2025 57,218 24,629,115 2026 $20.64 508,398 888,704 834,913
4 2025 3,173,644 2026 123,146 27,925,905 2027 $20.64 576,451 1,400,577 1,303,856
5 2026 9,699,029 2027 139,630 37,764,563 2028 $20.64 779,543 2,079,216 1,916,570
6 2027 619,318 2028 188,823 38,572,704 2029 $20.64 796,224 2,758,785 2,521,232
7 2028 923,544 2029 192,864 39,689,112 2030 $20.64 819,270 3,444,314 3,122,355
8 2029 3,143,148 2030 198,446 43,030,705 2031 $20.64 888,247 4,172,986 3,752,050
9 2030 3,143,068 2031 215,154 46,388,927 2032 $20.64 957,568 4,943,122 4,407,933


10 2031 0 2032 231,945 46,620,872 2033 $20.64 962,356 5,701,934 5,044,804
11 2032 0 2033 233,104 46,853,976 2034 $20.64 967,168 6,449,586 5,663,215
12 2033 0 2034 234,270 47,088,246 2035 $20.64 972,004 7,186,243 6,263,701
13 2034 0 2035 235,441 47,323,687 2036 $20.64 976,864 7,912,068 6,846,782
14 2035 0 2036 236,618 47,560,305 2037 $20.64 981,748 8,627,218 7,412,962
15 2036 0 2037 237,802 47,798,107 2038 $20.64 986,657 9,331,851 7,962,731
16 2037 0 2038 238,991 48,037,097 2039 $20.64 991,590 10,026,122 8,496,565
17 2038 0 2039 240,185 48,277,283 2040 $20.64 996,548 10,710,184 9,014,925
18 2039 0 2040 241,386 48,518,669 2041 $20.64 1,001,531 11,384,185 9,518,260
19 2040 0 2041 242,593 48,761,263 2042 $20.64 1,006,538 12,048,275 10,007,006
20 2041 0 2042 243,806 49,005,069 2043 $20.64 1,011,571 12,702,599 10,481,585


Totals 45,219,668 3,785,401 Future Value of Increment 16,639,353


Notes:
Actual results will vary depending on development, inflation of overall tax rates.


NPV calculations represent estimated amount of funds that could be borrowed (including project cost, capitalized interest and issuance costs).


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9


Tax Increment Projection Worksheet


Mixed Use
March 8, 2022


20


No







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 26 


Financing and Implementation 


Table 3 provides a summary of the District’s financing plan.  However, the City 
anticipates entering into Municipal Revenue Obligations (MRO) with developers as 
a form of financing of infrastructure improvements constructed by developer and 
to incentivize an affordable housing development. 


Based on the Project Cost expenditures as included within the cash flow exhibit 
(Table 4), the District is projected to accumulate sufficient funds by the year 2041 
to pay off all Project cost liabilities and obligations. The projected closure is based 
on the various assumptions noted in this Plan and will vary dependent on actual 
Project Costs incurred and the actual amount of tax increments collected. 


Table 3 – Financing Plan 


 


G.O. Bond
2025 Totals


Projects
Rutland-Dunn Signals 294,000 294,000
51 Corridor Enhanced Pedestrian Features 36,000 36,000
51 Corridor Wider Sidewalks 360,000 360,000
51 Corridor Lighting 572,400 572,400
51 Corridor Trees and Landscapting 120,000 120,000


Total Project Funds 1,382,400 1,382,400


Estimated Finance Related Expenses
Municipal Advisor 20,000
Bond Counsel 12,000
Disclosure Counsel 7,200
Rating Agency Fee 14,000
Paying Agent 850
Underwriter Discount 12.50 18,188


Total Financing Required 1,454,638


Estimated Interest 0.05% (346)
Assumed spend down (months) 6


Rounding 708


Net Issue Size 1,455,000 1,455,000


Notes:


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9


Estimated Financing Plan







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 27 


Table 4 – Cash Flow 


 


 


 


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9
Cash Flow Projection


Affordable
Dated Date:  Dvorak Housing


Year Principal Est. Rate Interest MRO MRO Year


2022 0 15,500 15,500 (15,500) (15,500) 8,600,000 2022
2023 0 5,000 5,000 (5,000) (20,500) 8,600,000 2023
2024 222,853 222,853 151,727 0 5,100 156,827 66,026 45,526 11,710,425 2024
2025 236,222 346 1,455,000 1,691,568 175,216 0 1,382,400 72,238 5,202 1,635,056 56,512 102,038 12,990,209 2025
2026 508,398 508,398 100,000 3.00% 58,640 278,679 127,465 5,306 570,090 (61,692) 40,347 12,484,065 2026
2027 576,451 576,451 100,000 3.00% 39,150 290,471 177,128 5,412 612,161 (35,710) 4,637 11,916,466 2027
2028 779,543 779,543 115,000 3.00% 35,925 442,050 178,014 5,520 776,509 3,034 7,671 11,181,402 2028
2029 796,224 796,224 125,000 3.00% 32,325 453,817 178,904 5,631 795,677 547 8,218 10,423,681 2029
2030 819,270 819,270 130,000 3.00% 28,500 470,352 179,798 5,743 814,393 4,877 13,095 9,643,531 2030
2031 888,247 888,247 155,000 3.00% 24,225 521,333 180,697 5,858 887,113 1,134 14,229 8,786,501 2031
2032 957,568 957,568 175,000 3.00% 19,275 572,566 181,601 5,975 954,417 3,151 17,381 7,857,334 2032
2033 962,356 962,356 180,000 3.00% 13,950 575,395 182,509 6,095 957,949 4,407 21,788 6,919,430 2033
2034 967,168 967,168 185,000 3.00% 8,475 578,238 183,421 6,217 961,351 5,817 27,605 5,972,771 2034
2035 972,004 972,004 190,000 3.00% 2,850 581,094 184,338 6,341 964,623 7,381 34,985 5,017,339 2035
2036 976,864 976,864 583,964 185,260 6,468 775,692 201,172 236,157 4,248,115 2036
2037 981,748 981,748 586,848 186,186 6,597 779,631 202,117 438,274 3,475,081 2037
2038 986,657 986,657 589,745 187,117 6,729 783,591 203,066 641,340 2,698,219 2038
2039 991,590 991,590 592,656 188,053 6,864 787,573 204,017 845,357 1,917,510 2039
2040 996,548 996,548 595,580 188,993 7,001 791,574 204,974 1,050,331 1,132,937 2040
2041 1,001,531 1,001,531 560,269 189,938 7,141 757,348 244,183 1,294,514 382,730 2041
2042 1,006,538 1,006,538 0 190,888 7,284 198,172 808,366 2,102,881 191,842 2042
2043 1,011,571 1,011,571 0 191,842 7,430 199,272 812,299 2,915,180 0 2043


Total 16,639,353 346 1,455,000 18,094,698 1,455,000 263,315 8,600,000 3,262,152 1,382,400 72,238 144,414 15,179,519 Total


Notes:
Projected TID Closure


Total 
Expenditures Annual Cumulative


Principal 
Outstanding


Debt 
Issuance 


Costs


Balances


Capital Admin.


Expenditures
G.O. Bond
1,455,000


06/15/25


Projected Revenues


Tax 
Increments


Interest 
Earnings/ 


(Cost)


Proceeds 
from Long-
Term Debt


Total 
Revenues







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 28 


SECTION 10: 


Annexed Property 


A tax incremental district cannot include annexed territory unless at least three 
years have elapsed since the annexation, or certain other requirements are met. 
None of the property within the proposed District boundary was annexed during 
the past three years. 


 


SECTION 11:  
Estimate of Property to Be Devoted to Retail 
Business 


Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(5)(b), the City estimates that less than 35% of the 
territory within the District will be devoted to retail business at the end of the 
District’s maximum expenditure period.  


 


SECTION 12:  
Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master 
Plan, Map, Building Codes and City Ordinances 


Zoning Ordinances 


The proposed Plan is in general conformance with the City’s current zoning 
ordinances. Individual properties may require rezoning at the time of development. 


Master (Comprehensive) Plan and Map 


The proposed Plan is in general conformance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan 
identifying the area as appropriate for mixed use development.  


Building Codes and Ordinances 


Development within the District will be required to conform to State Building Codes 
and will be subject to the City's permitting and inspection procedures. The 
proposed Plan conforms to all relevant State and local ordinances, plans, and 
codes. No changes to the existing regulations are proposed or needed. 


 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 29 
 


SECTION 13:  
How Creation of the Tax Incremental District 
Promotes the Orderly Development of the City 


Creation of the District and the implementation of the projects in its Plan will 
promote the orderly development of the City by creating opportunities for mixed 
use development, providing necessary public infrastructure improvements and 
providing appropriate financial incentives for private development projects. 
Through use of tax increment financing, the City can attract new investment that 
results in increased tax base. Development will occur in an orderly fashion in 
accordance with approved plans so that the Projects will be compatible with 
adjacent land uses. Development of new uses in the District will add to the tax base 
and will generate positive secondary impacts in the community such as increased 
employment opportunities and additional housing which will have a positive impact 
on the local school district. 


 
SECTION 15:  
List of Estimated Non-Project Costs 


Non-project costs are public works projects which only partly benefit the District. 
Costs incurred that do not benefit the District may not be paid with tax increments. 
Examples of non-project costs are: 


• A public improvement made within the District that also benefits property 
outside the District. That portion of the total Project Costs allocable to 
properties outside of the District would be a non-project cost.  


• A public improvement made outside the District that only partially benefits 
property within the District. That portion of the total Project Costs allocable 
to properties outside of the District would be a non-project cost. 


• Projects undertaken within the District as part of the implementation of this 
Project Plan, the costs of which are paid fully or in part by impact fees, grants, 
special assessments, or revenues other than tax increments. 


No improvements to be made within the District will benefit property outside the 
District. Furthermore, there will be no improvements made outside the District that 
will only partially benefit the District. 


 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 30 
 


SECTION 16:  
Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is 
Complete and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 
66.1105(4)(f) 


Legal Opinion Found on Following Page. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 31 
 


Insert Signed Legal Opinion 


 
SAMPLE 
 
Mayor 
City of Stoughton 
381 E Main St 
Stoughton, Wisconsin 53589 
 
RE: Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 9 
 
Dear Mayor: 
 
Wisconsin Statute 66.1105(4)(f) requires that a project plan for a tax incremental 
financing district include an opinion provided by the City Attorney advising as to 
whether the plan is complete and complies with Wisconsin Statute 66.1105.  
 
As City Attorney for the City of Stoughton, I have been asked to review the 
above-referenced project plan for compliance with the applicable statutory 
requirements. Based upon my review, in my opinion, the Project Plan for the City 
of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 9 is complete and complies with the 
provisions of Wisconsin Statute 66.1105. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
City Attorney 
  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 32 
 


SECTION 17:  
Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments 
Estimated to be Paid by the Owners of Property in 
the Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions 


The following projection is provided to meet the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 
66.1105(4)(i)4. 


 


Statement of Taxes Data Year: 2021
Percentage


Dane County 3,720,257 14.01%
City of Stoughton 9,911,584 37.33%
School District of Stoughton Area 11,882,736 44.75%
Madison Area Technical College 1,037,741 3.91%


Total 26,552,317


Revenue Year Dane County
City of 


Stoughton


School District 
of Stoughton 


Area


Madison Area 
Technical 
College Total Revenue Year


2024 31,224 83,188 99,731 8,710 222,853 2024
2025 33,097 88,178 105,715 9,232 236,222 2025
2026 71,232 189,778 227,519 19,870 508,398 2026
2027 80,767 215,181 257,974 22,529 576,451 2027
2028 109,222 290,992 348,862 30,467 779,543 2028
2029 111,559 297,219 356,328 31,119 796,224 2029
2030 114,788 305,821 366,641 32,019 819,270 2030
2031 124,453 331,569 397,510 34,715 888,247 2031
2032 134,165 357,446 428,532 37,425 957,568 2032
2033 134,836 359,233 430,675 37,612 962,356 2033
2034 135,510 361,029 432,829 37,800 967,168 2034
2035 136,188 362,835 434,993 37,989 972,004 2035
2036 136,869 364,649 437,168 38,179 976,864 2036
2037 137,553 366,472 439,353 38,370 981,748 2037
2038 138,241 368,304 441,550 38,561 986,657 2038
2039 138,932 370,146 443,758 38,754 991,590 2039
2040 139,627 371,997 445,977 38,948 996,548 2040
2041 140,325 373,857 448,207 39,143 1,001,531 2041
2042 141,027 375,726 450,448 39,338 1,006,538 2042
2043 141,732 377,604 452,700 39,535 1,011,571 2043


2,331,347 6,211,222 7,446,470 650,314 16,639,353


Notes:
The projection shown above is provided to meet the requirments of Wisconsin Statute 66.1105(4)(i)4.


Estimated portion of taxes that owners of taxable property in each taxing jurisdiction 
overlaying district would pay by jurisdiction.











•


✓


✓


✓


•


✓


•


✓



















Actual
Multifamily 


Housing


Affordable 


Housing
Commercial


Condominium 


Housing


Duplex 


Housing


Single 


Family 


Housing


Annual Total


1 2022 9,930,600 865,398 10,795,998 2022 1


2 2023 593,698 593,698 2023 2


3 2024 2,398,543 6,500,000 4,229,678 13,128,221 2024 3


4 2025 2,500,000 673,644 3,173,644 2025 4


5 2026 7,519,003 1,571,574 608,452 9,699,029 2026 5


6 2027 619,318 619,318 2027 6


7 2028 923,544 923,544 2028 7


8 2029 3,143,148 3,143,148 2029 8


9 2030 3,143,068 3,143,068 2030 9


10 2031 0 2031 10


11 2032 0 2032 11


12 2033 0 2033 12


13 2034 0 2034 13


14 2035 0 2035 14


15 2036 0 2036 15


16 2037 0 2037 16


17 2038 0 2038 17


18 2039 0 2039 18


19 2040 0 2040 19


20 2041 0 2041 20


Totals 0 12,329,143 9,000,000 11,748,681 7,857,790 1,459,096 2,824,958 45,219,668


Notes:


Construction Year Construction Year


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin


Tax Increment District #9


Development Assumptions







•


•


•


•


Type of District Base Value 34,949


District Creation Date Appreciation Factor 0.50%


Valuation Date Jan 1, 2022 Base Tax Rate $20.64


Max Life (Years) Rate Adjustment Factor 0.00%


Expenditure Period/Termination 15 3/8/2037


Revenue Periods/Final Year 20 2043


Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3 Tax Exempt Discount Rate 2.00%


Eligible Recipient District Taxable Discount Rate 3.50%


Construction 


Year


Value 


Added


Valuation 


Year


Inflation 


Increment


Total 


Increment


Revenue 


Year Tax Rate Tax Increment


1 2022 10,795,998 2023 0 10,795,998 2024 $20.64 222,853


2 2023 593,698 2024 53,980 11,443,676 2025 $20.64 236,222


3 2024 13,128,221 2025 57,218 24,629,115 2026 $20.64 508,398


4 2025 3,173,644 2026 123,146 27,925,905 2027 $20.64 576,451


5 2026 9,699,029 2027 139,630 37,764,563 2028 $20.64 779,543


6 2027 619,318 2028 188,823 38,572,704 2029 $20.64 796,224


7 2028 923,544 2029 192,864 39,689,112 2030 $20.64 819,270


8 2029 3,143,148 2030 198,446 43,030,705 2031 $20.64 888,247


9 2030 3,143,068 2031 215,154 46,388,927 2032 $20.64 957,568


10 2031 0 2032 231,945 46,620,872 2033 $20.64 962,356


11 2032 0 2033 233,104 46,853,976 2034 $20.64 967,168


12 2033 0 2034 234,270 47,088,246 2035 $20.64 972,004


13 2034 0 2035 235,441 47,323,687 2036 $20.64 976,864


14 2035 0 2036 236,618 47,560,305 2037 $20.64 981,748


15 2036 0 2037 237,802 47,798,107 2038 $20.64 986,657


16 2037 0 2038 238,991 48,037,097 2039 $20.64 991,590


17 2038 0 2039 240,185 48,277,283 2040 $20.64 996,548


18 2039 0 2040 241,386 48,518,669 2041 $20.64 1,001,531


19 2040 0 2041 242,593 48,761,263 2042 $20.64 1,006,538


20 2041 0 2042 243,806 49,005,069 2043 $20.64 1,011,571


Totals 45,219,668 3,785,401 Future Value of Increment 16,639,353


Notes:


Actual results will vary depending on development, inflation of overall tax rates.


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin


Tax Increment District #9


Tax Increment Projection Worksheet


Mixed Use


March 8, 2022


20


No







•


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9


Cash Flow Projection


Affordable


Dated Date:  Dvorak Housing


Year Principal Est. Rate Interest MRO MRO Year


2022 0 15,500 15,500 (15,500) (15,500) 8,600,000 2022


2023 0 5,000 5,000 (5,000) (20,500) 8,600,000 2023


2024 222,853 222,853 151,727 0 5,100 156,827 66,026 45,526 11,710,425 2024


2025 236,222 346 1,455,000 1,691,568 175,216 0 1,382,400 72,238 5,202 1,635,056 56,512 102,038 12,990,209 2025


2026 508,398 508,398 100,000 3.00% 58,640 278,679 127,465 5,306 570,090 (61,692) 40,347 12,484,065 2026


2027 576,451 576,451 100,000 3.00% 39,150 290,471 177,128 5,412 612,161 (35,710) 4,637 11,916,466 2027


2028 779,543 779,543 115,000 3.00% 35,925 442,050 178,014 5,520 776,509 3,034 7,671 11,181,402 2028


2029 796,224 796,224 125,000 3.00% 32,325 453,817 178,904 5,631 795,677 547 8,218 10,423,681 2029


2030 819,270 819,270 130,000 3.00% 28,500 470,352 179,798 5,743 814,393 4,877 13,095 9,643,531 2030


2031 888,247 888,247 155,000 3.00% 24,225 521,333 180,697 5,858 887,113 1,134 14,229 8,786,501 2031


2032 957,568 957,568 175,000 3.00% 19,275 572,566 181,601 5,975 954,417 3,151 17,381 7,857,334 2032


2033 962,356 962,356 180,000 3.00% 13,950 575,395 182,509 6,095 957,949 4,407 21,788 6,919,430 2033


2034 967,168 967,168 185,000 3.00% 8,475 578,238 183,421 6,217 961,351 5,817 27,605 5,972,771 2034


2035 972,004 972,004 190,000 3.00% 2,850 581,094 184,338 6,341 964,623 7,381 34,985 5,017,339 2035


2036 976,864 976,864 583,964 185,260 6,468 775,692 201,172 236,157 4,248,115 2036


2037 981,748 981,748 586,848 186,186 6,597 779,631 202,117 438,274 3,475,081 2037


2038 986,657 986,657 589,745 187,117 6,729 783,591 203,066 641,340 2,698,219 2038


2039 991,590 991,590 592,656 188,053 6,864 787,573 204,017 845,357 1,917,510 2039


2040 996,548 996,548 595,580 188,993 7,001 791,574 204,974 1,050,331 1,132,937 2040


2041 1,001,531 1,001,531 560,269 189,938 7,141 757,348 244,183 1,294,514 382,730 2041


2042 1,006,538 1,006,538 0 190,888 7,284 198,172 808,366 2,102,881 191,842 2042


2043 1,011,571 1,011,571 0 191,842 7,430 199,272 812,299 2,915,180 0 2043


Total 16,639,353 346 1,455,000 18,094,698 1,455,000 263,315 8,600,000 3,262,152 1,382,400 72,238 144,414 15,179,519 Total


Notes:


Projected TID Closure


Total 


Expenditures Annual Cumulative


Principal 


Outstanding


Debt 


Issuance 


Costs


Balances


Capital Admin.


Expenditures


G.O. Bond


1,455,000


06/15/25


Projected Revenues


Tax 


Increments


Interest 


Earnings/ 


(Cost)


Proceeds 


from Long-


Term Debt


Total 


Revenues





		Project Plan 2.25.22.pdf

		Executive Summary

		Preliminary Map of Proposed District Boundary

		Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions

		Preliminary Parcel List and Analysis

		Equalized Value Test

		Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All Proposed Public Works or Improvements Within the District

		Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses

		Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs

		Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods of Financing Estimated Project Costs and the Time When Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be Incurred

		Annexed Property

		Estimate of Property to Be Devoted to Retail Business

		Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, Map, Building Codes and City Ordinances

		How Creation of the Tax Incremental District Promotes the Orderly Development of the City

		List of Estimated Non-Project Costs

		Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(f)

		Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments Estimated to be Paid by the Owners of Property in the Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions



		Project Plan 2.25.22.pdf

		Executive Summary

		Preliminary Map of Proposed District Boundary

		Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions

		Preliminary Parcel List and Analysis

		Equalized Value Test

		Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All Proposed Public Works or Improvements Within the District

		Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses

		Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs

		Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods of Financing Estimated Project Costs and the Time When Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be Incurred

		Annexed Property

		Estimate of Property to Be Devoted to Retail Business

		Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, Map, Building Codes and City Ordinances

		How Creation of the Tax Incremental District Promotes the Orderly Development of the City

		List of Estimated Non-Project Costs

		Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(f)

		Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments Estimated to be Paid by the Owners of Property in the Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions








\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\PC Resolutions 2022\TID 9 - PC Resolution 2022.doc 


 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. FORREST STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE PLAN COMMISSION 


 
RESOLUTION DESIGNATING PROPOSED BOUNDARIES AND APPROVING A 


PROJECT PLAN FOR TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 9, 
CITY OF STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 


  
Commission 


Action: 


 
Plan Commission Approved  - 


 
Fiscal Impact: 


 
 


 
File Number: 


 
R-7-2022 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
March 14, 2022 


 
WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton (the “City”) has determined that use of Tax 


Incremental Financing is required to promote development and redevelopment within the City; 
and 
 


WHEREAS, Tax Incremental District No. 9 (the “District”) is proposed to be created by 
the City as a mixed-use district in accordance with the provisions of Wisconsin Statutes Section 
66.1105 (the "Tax Increment Law"); and 
 
 WHEREAS, a Project Plan for the District has been prepared that includes: 
 


a. A statement listing of the kind, number and location of all proposed public works or 
improvements within the District, or to the extent provided in Wisconsin Statutes 
Sections 66.1105(2)(f)1.k. and 66.1105(2)(f)1.n., outside of the District; 


b. An economic feasibility study; 
c. A detailed list of estimated project costs; 
d. A description of the methods of financing all estimated project costs and the time 


when the related costs or monetary obligations are to be incurred; 
e. A map showing existing uses and conditions of real property in the District; 
f. A map showing proposed improvements and uses in the District; 
g. Proposed changes of zoning ordinances, master plan, map, building codes and City 


ordinances;  
h. A list of estimated non-project costs; 
i. A statement of the proposed plan for relocation of any persons to be displaced; 
j. A statement indicating how the District promotes the orderly development of the City; 
k. An opinion of the City Attorney or of an attorney retained by the City advising that the 


plan is complete and complies with Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4)(f). 
 
 WHEREAS, prior to its publication, a copy of the notice of public hearing was sent to the 
chief executive officers of Dane County, the Stoughton Area School District, and the Madison 
Area Technical College District, and any other entities having the power to levy taxes on 
property located within the District, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax 
Increment Law; and 
 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with the procedures specified in the Tax Increment Law, the 
Plan Commission, on March 14, 2022 held a public hearing concerning the project plan and 







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\PC Resolutions 2022\TID 9 - PC Resolution 2022.doc 


 


boundaries and proposed creation of the District, providing interested parties a reasonable 
opportunity to express their views thereon. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Plan Commission of the City of Stoughton 
that: 
 
 1. It recommends to the Common Council that Tax Incremental District No. 9 be 


created with boundaries as designated in Exhibit A of this Resolution.   
 
 2. It approves and adopts the Project Plan for the District, attached as Exhibit B, and 


recommends its approval to the Common Council. 
 
 3. Creation of the District promotes orderly development in the City. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
Adopted this _________ day of _____________, 2022. 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________________ 
Planning Commission Chair  
 
 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Secretary of the Planning Commission 
 


 







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\PC Resolutions 2022\TID 9 - PC Resolution 2022.doc 


 


EXHIBIT A - 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  


LEGAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION OR MAP OF  
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 9 


CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


THIS CAN BE FOUND IN THE PROJECT PLAN 







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\PC Resolutions 2022\TID 9 - PC Resolution 2022.doc 


 


EXHIBIT B -  
 
 
 
 
 


PROJECT PLAN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


THIS WILL BE HANDED OUT SEPARATELY  
 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 1 


       
 
 


March 14, 2022 


 


PROJECT PLAN 
 


 City of Stoughton, 
Wisconsin 


Tax Incremental District No. 9 


(51 West Development) 
 


 
 


Prepared by: 


Ehlers  


N21W23350 Ridgeview Parkway West, 


Suite 100 


Waukesha, WI 53188 


 


BUILDING COMMUNITIES. IT’S WHAT WE DO. 
 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 2 
 


KEY DATES 
 


Organizational Joint Review Board Meeting Held: 


 


Scheduled for 3/14/22 


Public Hearing Held: Scheduled for 3/14/22 


Approval by Plan Commission: Scheduled for 3/14/22 


Adoption by Common Council: Scheduled for 4/12/22 


Approval by the Joint Review Board: TBD 


 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 


 


Executive Summary .............................................................................................................................. 3 


Preliminary Map of Proposed District Boundary ....................................................................... 6 


Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions ............................................................................... 8 


Preliminary Parcel List and Analysis ............................................................................................ 10 


Equalized Value Test .......................................................................................................................... 11 


Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All Proposed Public Works or 
Improvements Within the District ................................................................................................. 12 


Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses ................................................................... 18 


Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs .................................................................................... 21 


Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods of Financing Estimated 
Project Costs and the Time When Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be 
Incurred ................................................................................................................................................... 23 


Annexed Property ............................................................................................................................... 28 


Estimate of Property to Be Devoted to Retail Business ....................................................... 28 


Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, Map, Building Codes and 
City Ordinances .................................................................................................................................... 28 


How Creation of the Tax Incremental District Promotes the Orderly Development 
of the City ............................................................................................................................................... 29 


List of Estimated Non-Project Costs ............................................................................................ 29 


Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete and Complies with Wis. Stat. 
§ 66.1105(4)(f) ...................................................................................................................................... 30 


Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments Estimated to be Paid by the 
Owners of Property in the Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions ................................................. 32 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 3 
 


SECTION 1: 


Executive Summary 


Description of District 
Tax Incremental District (“TID”) No. 9 (“District”) is a proposed Mixed-Use 
District comprising approximately 76 acres located on the City’s northwest 
side.  The District is located just south of Rutland-Dunn Town Line Road and 
split by US Highway 51. The District will be created to pay the costs of a 
development incentive and necessary City infrastructure needed for mixed use 
purposes (“Project”) to be developed by RHD Properties, LLC (“Developer”).  


The Project is comprised of commercial lots and residential lots.  It is estimated 
to provide 9 single family lots and approximately 348 multi-family units 
including a mix of multifamily, duplex and condo developments.  In addition, 
the District will provide parks and recreation along with stormwater 
management facilities. 


Authority 
The City is creating the District under the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 66.1105.  


Estimated Total Project Cost Expenditures 
The City anticipates making total expenditures of approximately $15,314,552 
(“Project Costs”) to undertake the projects listed in this Project Plan (“Plan”). 
The primary project cost is a $8,600,000 developer incentive to reduce the 
financial gap for infrastructure installation and a developer incentive of 
$3,262,152 to fund the financial gap for the affordable housing development.  
The developer incentive will be provided on a “pay-as-you-go” basis meaning 
the developer is required to complete the project and all related public 
improvements before a developer incentive is paid by the City.  A developer 
incentive is subject to approval of a development agreement by the City 
Council. 


Incremental Valuation 
The City projects that new land and improvements value of approximately 
$45,219,668 will result from the Project. Creation of this additional value will be 
made possible by the Project Costs made within the District. A table detailing 
assumption’s as to the development timing and associated values is included in 
the Economic Feasibility Study located within this Plan. 


Expected Termination of District   
Based on the Economic Feasibility Study located within Section 9 of this Plan, 
the City anticipates that the District will generate sufficient tax increment to 
pay all Project Costs within its allowable 20 years. 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 4 
 


Summary of Findings 
As required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105, and as documented in this Plan and the 
exhibits contained and referenced herein, the following findings are made: 


1. That “but for” the creation of this District, the development projected to 
occur as detailed in this Plan: 1) would not occur; or 2) would not occur in 
the manner, at the values, or within the timeframe desired by the City. In 
reaching this determination, the City has considered the following: 


A review of the Project’s sources and uses, and cash flow proforma is being 
undertaken by the City to perform its due diligence regarding the “but for” 
test. The review will look at the Project’s projected return on investment to 
determine if the amount the Developer has requested is necessary to 
provide an acceptable return on investment and indicates that “but for” the 
incentives, the project would not likely proceed.  The results of this review 
will be incorporated into the project plan in time for consideration by the 
City Council.  


In addition, the City anticipates required infrastructure to be installed by the 
City.  Absent the use of tax incremental financing, the City is unable to fully 
fund this program of infrastructure improvements. 


2. The economic benefits of the District, as measured by increased 
employment, business and personal income, and property value, are 
sufficient to compensate for the cost of the improvements. In making this 
determination, the City has considered that the Developer is likely to 
purchase goods and services from local suppliers in construction of the 
Project, and induced effects of employee households spending locally for 
goods and services from retailers, restaurants and service companies. 


The expectation is that the Project will provide housing opportunities that 
may create employment opportunities to workers within the area of the TID 
or other parts of the City once the Project is fully operational. 


3. The benefits of the proposal outweigh the anticipated tax increments to be 
paid by the owners of property in the overlying taxing jurisdictions. As 
required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(i)4., a calculation of the share of 
projected tax increments estimated to be paid by the owners of property in 
the overlying taxing jurisdictions has been prepared and can be found in this 
Plan. However, because the Project would not occur without the use of tax 
incremental financing, these tax increments would not be paid but for 
creation of the District. Accordingly, the City finds that the benefits 
expected to be realized as set forth in this Plan outweigh the value of the 
tax increments to be invested in the Project. 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 5 
 


4. Not less than 50% by area of the real property within the District is suitable 
for mixed use development as defined by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(cm). Lands 
proposed for newly-platted residential development comprise no more than 
35% (actual per plan, 29.28%) of the real property area within the District. 
Costs related to newly-platted residential development may be incurred 
based on the proposed development having a density of at least three (3) 
units per acre as defined in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)3.a. 


5. Based on the foregoing finding, the District is designated as a mixed-use 
district. 


6. The Project Costs relate directly to promoting mixed use development in 
the District, consistent with the purpose for which the District is created.  


7. Improvements to be made in the District are likely to significantly enhance 
the value of substantially all of the other real property in the District.  


8. The equalized value of taxable property in the District, plus the incremental 
value of all existing tax incremental districts within the City does not exceed 
12% of the total equalized value of taxable property within the City.  


9. The City estimates that less than 35% of the territory within the District will 
be devoted to retail business at the end of the District’s maximum 
expenditure period, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(5)(b).  


10. That there are no parcels to be included within the District that were 
annexed by the City within the preceding three-year period.  


11. The Plan for the District is feasible and is in conformity with the 
Comprehensive Plan of the City. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 6 
 


SECTION 2: 
Preliminary Map of Proposed District Boundary 


Map Found on Following Page. 


To the extent District boundaries include wetlands identified on a map 
prepared under Wis. Stat. § 23.32, the wetlands are excluded from the District.   


The District does include a very small amount of wetlands, however the 
wetlands do not appear on the National or Wisconsin Wetland inventory and a 
federal exemption to fill them has been approved by the Wisconsin DNR.  
Wetland acreage for this plan is included in the District. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 7 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 8 


SECTION 3:  
Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions 


Map Found on Following Page. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 9 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 10 
 


SECTION 4:  
Preliminary Parcel List and Analysis 


 


 


 


 


  


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9
Base Property Information


Map 
Ref# Parcel Number Street Address Owner Acreage


Annexed 
Post 


1/1/04?   
...Indicate 


date


Part of Existing 
TID?    …Indicate 


TID #


Land Imp PP Total
Equalized 


Value Ratio Land Imp Total
Commercial/ 


Business Institutional
Newly Platted 


Residential
Suitable for 
Mixed Use


1 51001180412 1547 US HIGHWAY 51 RHD PROPERTIES LLC 33.40 No No 10,400 0 0 10,400 99.00% 10,505 0 10,505 13.7270 8.0800 11.5930 33.40
2 51001185012 N/A RHD PROPERTIES LLC 17.90 No No 14,100 0 0 14,100 99.00% 14,242 0 14,242 13.4800 4.4200 17.90
3 51106285012 N/A RHD PROPERTIES LLC 0.50 No No 100 0 0 100 99.00% 101 0 101 0.5000 0.50
4 51106286012 N/A RHD PROPERTIES LLC 1.60 No No 4,700 0 0 4,700 99.00% 4,747 0 4,747 1.6000 1.60
5 51106286522 N/A RHD PROPERTIES LLC 16.90 No No 5,300 0 0 5,300 99.00% 5,354 0 5,354 10.4510 6.4490 16.90


ROW N/A N/A N/A 6.41 N/A N/A 0 0 0 0 99.00% 0 0 0 6.41 0 6.41


Total Acreage 76.71 34,600 0 0 34,600 34,949 0 13.727 40.521 22.464 76.712
17.89% 52.82% 29.28% 100.00%


The above values are as of January 1, 2021.   Actual base value certification of the territory will be based on January 1, 2022 assessed values. Estimated Base Value 34,949


Property Information Assessment Information Equalized Value District Classification







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 11 


SECTION 5:  
Equalized Value Test 


The following calculations demonstrate that the City expects to be in 
compliance with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(gm)4.c., which requires that the 
equalized value of the taxable property in the proposed District, plus the value 
increment of all existing tax incremental districts, does not exceed 12% of the 
total equalized value of taxable property within the City.  


The equalized value of the increment of existing tax incremental districts within 
the City, plus the base value of the proposed District, totals $54,999,149. This 
value is less than the maximum of $160,953,372 in equalized value that is 
permitted for the City. 


 


District Creation Date 3/8/2022


Valuation Data
Currently Available


2021
Total EV (TID In) 1,341,278,100


12% Test 160,953,372


Increment of Existing TIDs
TID #4 7,905,100
TID #5 3,214,400
TID #6 3,191,400
TID #7 40,319,500
TID #8 333,800


Total Existing Increment 54,964,200


Projected Base of New or Amended District 34,949


Total Value Subject to 12% Test 54,999,149


Compliance PASS


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9


Valuation Test Compliance Calculation


TID #8







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 12 
 


SECTION 6:  


Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location 
of All Proposed Public Works or Improvements 
Within the District 


Project Costs are any expenditure made, estimated to be made, or monetary 
obligations incurred or estimated to be incurred as outlined in this Plan. Project 
Costs will be diminished by any income, special assessments or other revenues, 
including user fees or charges, other than tax increments, received or 
reasonably expected to be received in connection with the implementation of 
the Plan. If Project Costs incurred benefit territory outside the District, a 
proportionate share of the cost is not a Project Cost. Costs identified in this 
Plan are preliminary estimates made prior to design considerations and are 
subject to change after planning, design and construction is completed. 


With all Project Costs, the costs of engineering, design, survey, inspection, 
materials, construction, restoring property to its original condition, apparatus 
necessary for public works, legal and other consultant fees, testing, 
environmental studies, permits, updating City ordinances and plans, judgments 
or claims for damages and other expenses are included as Project Costs. 


The following is a list of public works and other tax incremental financing 
eligible Project Costs that the City expects to make, or may need to make, in 
conjunction with the implementation of the District’s Plan. The map found in 
Section 7 of this Plan along with the Detailed List of Project Costs found in 
Section 8 provide additional information as to the kind, number and location of 
potential Project Costs. 


Property, Right-of-Way and Easement Acquisition 


Property Acquisition for Development 


To promote and facilitate development the City may acquire property within 
the District. The cost of property acquired, and any costs associated with the 
transaction, are eligible Project Costs. Following acquisition, other Project 
Costs within the categories detailed in this Section may be incurred to make 
the property suitable for development.  Any revenue received by the City from 
the sale of property acquired pursuant to the execution of this Plan will be used 
to reduce the total project costs of the District.  If total Project Costs incurred 
by the City to acquire property and make it suitable for development exceed 
the revenues or other consideration received from the sale or lease of that 
property, the net amount shall be considered “real property assembly costs” as 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 13 
 


defined in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1.c., and subject to recovery as an eligible 
Project Cost. 


Acquisition of Rights-of-Way 


The City may need to acquire property to allow for installation of streets, 
driveways, sidewalks, utilities, stormwater management practices and other 
public infrastructure. Costs incurred by the City to identify, negotiate and 
acquire rights-of-way are eligible Project Costs. 


Acquisition of Easements 


The City may need to acquire temporary or permanent easements to allow for 
installation and maintenance of streets, driveways, sidewalks, utilities, 
stormwater management practices and other public infrastructure.  Costs 
incurred by the City to identify, negotiate and acquire easement rights are 
eligible Project Costs. 


Relocation Costs 


If relocation expenses are incurred in conjunction with the acquisition of 
property, those expenses are eligible Project Costs. These costs may include, 
but are not limited to: preparation of a relocation plan; allocations of staff time; 
legal fees; publication of notices; obtaining appraisals; and payment of 
relocation benefits as required by Wis. Stat. Chapter 32 and Wis. Admin. Code 
ADM 92. 


Site Preparation Activities 


Environmental Audits and Remediation 


If it becomes necessary to evaluate any land or improvement within the District, 
any cost incurred by the City related to environmental audits, testing, and 
remediation are eligible Project Costs. 


Demolition 


To make sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs related to 
demolition and removal of structures or other land improvements, to include 
abandonment of wells or other existing utility services. 


Site Grading 


Land within the District may require grading to make it suitable for 
development, to provide access, and to control stormwater runoff.  The City 
may need to remove and dispose of excess material, or bring in fill material to 
provide for proper site elevations. Expenses incurred by the City for site 
grading are eligible Project Costs. 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 14 
 


Utilities 


Sanitary Sewer System Improvements 


To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild 
or expand sanitary sewer infrastructure within the District.  Eligible Project 
Costs include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or 
expansion of: collection mains; manholes and cleanouts; service laterals; force 
mains; interceptor sewers; pumping stations; lift stations; wastewater treatment 
facilities; and all related appurtenances. To the extent sanitary sewer projects 
undertaken within the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the 
District, the City will make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those 
costs corresponding to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project 
Costs. Implementation of the Project Plan may also require that the City 
construct, alter, rebuild or expand sanitary sewer infrastructure located outside 
of the District. That portion of the costs of sanitary sewer system projects 
undertaken outside the District which are necessitated by the implementation 
of the Project Plan are eligible Project Costs. The improvements to the 
wastewater treatment facilities, although not within the ½ mile radius, is an 
eligible project cost under Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1 k. 


Water System Improvements 


To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild 
or expand water system infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project Costs 
include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or expansion 
of: distribution mains; manholes and valves; hydrants; service laterals; pumping 
stations; wells; water treatment facilities; storage tanks and reservoirs; and all 
related appurtenances. To the extent water system projects undertaken within 
the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the District, the City will 
make an allocation of costs based on such benefit. Those costs corresponding 
to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and necessitated by the 
implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project Costs.  Implementation 
of the Project Plan may also require that the City construct, alter, rebuild or 
expand water system infrastructure located outside of the District.  That 
portion of the costs of water system projects undertaken outside the District 
which are necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan are eligible 
Project Costs. 


Stormwater Management System Improvements 


Development within the District will cause stormwater runoff. To manage this 
stormwater runoff, the City may need to construct, alter, rebuild or expand 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 15 
 


stormwater management infrastructure within the District. Eligible Project 
Costs include, but are not limited to, construction, alteration, rebuilding or 
expansion of: stormwater collection mains; inlets, manholes and valves; service 
laterals; ditches; culvert pipes; box culverts; bridges; stabilization of stream and 
river banks; and infiltration, filtration and detention Best Management Practices 
(BMP’s). To the extent stormwater management system projects undertaken 
within the District provide direct benefit to land outside of the District, the City 
will make an allocation of costs based on such benefit.  Those costs 
corresponding to the benefit allocated to land within the District, and 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan, are eligible Project 
Costs.  Implementation of the Project Plan may also require that the City 
construct, alter, rebuild or expand stormwater management infrastructure 
located outside of the District. That portion of the costs of stormwater 
management system projects undertaken outside the District which are 
necessitated by the implementation of the Project Plan are eligible Project 
Costs. 


Electric Service 


To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade electric services. Relocation may require abandonment and 
removal of existing poles or towers, installation of new poles or towers, or 
burying of overhead electric lines.  Costs incurred by the City to undertake this 
work are eligible Project Costs. 


Gas Service 


To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade gas mains and services. Costs incurred by the City to 
undertake this work are eligible Project Costs. 


Communications Infrastructure 


To create sites suitable for development, the City may incur costs to provide, 
relocate or upgrade infrastructure required for voice and data communications, 
including, but not limited to:  telephone lines, cable lines and fiber optic cable. 
Costs incurred by the City to undertake this work are eligible Project Costs. 


Streets and Streetscape 


Street Improvements 


To allow development to occur, the City may need to construct or reconstruct 
streets, highways, alleys, access drives and parking areas. Eligible Project Costs 
include, but are not limited to: excavation; removal or placement of fill;  
construction of road base; asphalt or concrete paving or repaving;  installation 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 16 
 


of curb and gutter; installation of sidewalks and bicycle lanes; installation of 
culverts, box culverts and bridges; rail crossings and signals; utility relocation, 
to include burying overhead utility lines; street lighting; installation of traffic 
control signage and traffic signals; pavement marking; right-of-way restoration; 
installation of retaining walls; and installation of fences, berms, and landscaping. 


Streetscaping and Landscaping 


To attract development consistent with the objectives of this Plan, the City may 
install amenities to enhance development sites, rights-of-way and other public 
spaces. These amenities include, but are not limited to: landscaping; lighting of 
streets, sidewalks, parking areas and public areas; installation of planters, 
benches, clocks, tree rings, trash receptacles and similar items; and installation 
of brick or other decorative walks, terraces and street crossings. These and any 
other similar amenities installed by the City are eligible Project Costs. 


Community Development 


Cash Grants (Development Incentives)  


The City may enter into agreements with property owners, lessees, or 
developers of land located within the District for sharing costs to encourage 
the desired kind of improvements and assure tax base is generated sufficient 
to recover Project Costs. No cash grants will be provided until the City executes 
a developer agreement with the recipient of the cash grant.  Any payments of 
cash grants made by the City are eligible Project Costs. 


Miscellaneous 


Projects Outside the Tax Increment District 


Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(2)(f)1.n, the City may undertake projects within 
territory located within one-half mile of the boundary of the District provided 
that: 1) the project area is located within the City’s corporate boundaries; and 
2) the projects are approved by the Joint Review Board. The cost of projects 
completed outside the District pursuant to this section are eligible project 
costs, and may include any project cost that would otherwise be eligible if 
undertaken within the District. The City intends to make the following project 
cost expenditures outside the District: 


• 51 Corridor Enhanced Pedestrian Features, $30,600 
• 51 Corridor Wider Sidewalks, $306,000 
• 51 Corridor Lighting, $486,540 
• 51 Corridor Trees and Landscaping, $102,000 
• 51 Corridor Underpass, $2,070,000  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 17 
 


Professional Service and Organizational Costs 


The costs of professional services rendered, and other costs incurred, in relation 
to the creation, administration and termination of the District, and the 
undertaking of the projects contained within this Plan, are eligible Project Costs. 
Professional services include but are not limited to: architectural; 
environmental; planning; engineering; legal; audit; financial; and the costs of 
informing the public with respect to the creation of the District and the 
implementation of the Plan. 


Administrative Costs 


The City may charge to the District as eligible Project Costs reasonable 
allocations of administrative costs, including, but not limited to, employee 
salaries. Costs allocated will bear a direct connection to the time spent by City 
employees relating to the implementation of the Plan. 


Financing Costs 


Interest expense, debt issuance expenses, redemption premiums, and any other 
fees and costs incurred in conjunction with obtaining financing for projects 
undertaken under this Plan are eligible Project Costs. 


 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 18 
 


SECTION 7:  
Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses 


Map Found on Following Page. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 19 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 20 
 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 21 


SECTION 8:  
Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs 


The list on the next page identifies the Project Costs that the City currently 
expects to incur in implementing the District’s Plan. All projects identified and 
related costs reflect the best estimates available as of the date of preparation 
of this Plan. All costs are preliminary estimates and may increase or decrease. 
Certain Project Costs listed may become unnecessary, and other Project Costs 
not currently identified may need to be made. (Section 6 details the general 
categories of eligible Project Costs). Changes in Project Cost totals or the types 
of Project Costs to be incurred will not require that this Plan be amended. This 
Plan is not meant to be a budget nor an appropriation of funds for specific 
Project Costs, but a framework within which to manage Project Costs. 


 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 22 


 


 


 


 


  


Project 1/2 Mile Percentage TID Non TID
Year Projects in 1/2 Mile Amount Costs


Project ID Project Name/Type See Note 1


1 Developer Incentive 2024 - 2041 No NA 8,600,000 0
2 Affordable Housing Incentive 2026 - 2043 No NA 3,262,152 0
3 Rutland-Dunn Intersection 2025 - 2026 No NA 294,000 0
4 51 Corridor Enhanced Pedestrian Features2 2025 - 2026 Yes 85% 36,000 0
5 51 Corridor Wider Sidewalks2 2025 - 2026 Yes 85% 360,000 0
6 51 Corridor Lighting2 2025 - 2026 Yes 85% 572,400 0
7 51 Corridor Trees and Landscaping2 2025 - 2026 Yes 85% 120,000 0
8 51 Corridor Underpass3 TBD Yes 100% 2,070,000 0


Total Projects 15,314,552 0


Notes:
Note 1 Project costs are estimates and are subject to modification
Note 2 The 2025/2026 51 Corridor Improvements are estimated to be financed with a debt issue in 2025.
Note 3 The underpass will be constructed based upon approval by the City Council and available increment revenue.


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9


Estimated Project List







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 23 


SECTION 9:  
Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the 
Methods of Financing Estimated Project Costs and 
the Time When Related Costs or Monetary 
Obligations are to be Incurred 


This Section includes a forecast of the valuation increases expected within the 
District, the associated tax increment collections, a summary of how Project 
Costs would be financed, and a projected cash flow demonstrating that the 
District is economically feasible. 


 


Key Assumptions 


The Project Costs the City plans to make are expected to create $45 million in 
incremental value by the end of 2030. Estimated valuations and timing for 
construction of the Project are included in Table 1. Assuming the City’s current 
equalized TID Interim tax rate of $20.64 per thousand of equalized value, and 
no economic appreciation or depreciation, the Project would generate $16.6 
million in incremental tax revenue over the 20-year term of the District as 
shown in Table 2. 


 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 24 


Table 1 – Development Assumptions 


 


 


  


Actual
Multifamily 


Housing
Affordable 


Housing
Commercial


Condominium 
Housing


Duplex 
Housing


Single Family 
Housing


Annual Total


1 2022 9,930,600 865,398 10,795,998 2022 1
2 2023 593,698 593,698 2023 2
3 2024 2,398,543 6,500,000 4,229,678 13,128,221 2024 3
4 2025 2,500,000 673,644 3,173,644 2025 4
5 2026 7,519,003 1,571,574 608,452 9,699,029 2026 5
6 2027 619,318 619,318 2027 6
7 2028 923,544 923,544 2028 7
8 2029 3,143,148 3,143,148 2029 8
9 2030 3,143,068 3,143,068 2030 9


10 2031 0 2031 10
11 2032 0 2032 11
12 2033 0 2033 12
13 2034 0 2034 13
14 2035 0 2035 14
15 2036 0 2036 15
16 2037 0 2037 16
17 2038 0 2038 17
18 2039 0 2039 18
19 2040 0 2040 19
20 2041 0 2041 20


Totals 0 12,329,143 9,000,000 11,748,681 7,857,790 1,459,096 2,824,958 45,219,668


Notes:


Construction Year Construction Year


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9
Development Assumptions







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 25 
 


Table 2 – Tax Increment Projection Worksheet 


  


Type of District Base Value 34,949
District Creation Date Appreciation Factor 0.50%


Valuation Date Jan 1, 2022 Base Tax Rate $20.64
Max Life (Years) Rate Adjustment Factor 0.00%


Expenditure Period/Termination 15 3/8/2037
Revenue Periods/Final Year 20 2043


Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3 Tax Exempt Discount Rate 2.00%
Eligible Recipient District Taxable Discount Rate 3.50%


Construction 
Year


Value 
Added


Valuation 
Year


Inflation 
Increment


Total 
Increment


Revenue 
Year Tax Rate Tax Increment


Tax Exempt 
NPV 


Calculation
Taxable NPV 
Calculation


1 2022 10,795,998 2023 0 10,795,998 2024 $20.64 222,853 209,999 201,001
2 2023 593,698 2024 53,980 11,443,676 2025 $20.64 236,222 428,232 406,855
3 2024 13,128,221 2025 57,218 24,629,115 2026 $20.64 508,398 888,704 834,913
4 2025 3,173,644 2026 123,146 27,925,905 2027 $20.64 576,451 1,400,577 1,303,856
5 2026 9,699,029 2027 139,630 37,764,563 2028 $20.64 779,543 2,079,216 1,916,570
6 2027 619,318 2028 188,823 38,572,704 2029 $20.64 796,224 2,758,785 2,521,232
7 2028 923,544 2029 192,864 39,689,112 2030 $20.64 819,270 3,444,314 3,122,355
8 2029 3,143,148 2030 198,446 43,030,705 2031 $20.64 888,247 4,172,986 3,752,050
9 2030 3,143,068 2031 215,154 46,388,927 2032 $20.64 957,568 4,943,122 4,407,933


10 2031 0 2032 231,945 46,620,872 2033 $20.64 962,356 5,701,934 5,044,804
11 2032 0 2033 233,104 46,853,976 2034 $20.64 967,168 6,449,586 5,663,215
12 2033 0 2034 234,270 47,088,246 2035 $20.64 972,004 7,186,243 6,263,701
13 2034 0 2035 235,441 47,323,687 2036 $20.64 976,864 7,912,068 6,846,782
14 2035 0 2036 236,618 47,560,305 2037 $20.64 981,748 8,627,218 7,412,962
15 2036 0 2037 237,802 47,798,107 2038 $20.64 986,657 9,331,851 7,962,731
16 2037 0 2038 238,991 48,037,097 2039 $20.64 991,590 10,026,122 8,496,565
17 2038 0 2039 240,185 48,277,283 2040 $20.64 996,548 10,710,184 9,014,925
18 2039 0 2040 241,386 48,518,669 2041 $20.64 1,001,531 11,384,185 9,518,260
19 2040 0 2041 242,593 48,761,263 2042 $20.64 1,006,538 12,048,275 10,007,006
20 2041 0 2042 243,806 49,005,069 2043 $20.64 1,011,571 12,702,599 10,481,585


Totals 45,219,668 3,785,401 Future Value of Increment 16,639,353


Notes:
Actual results will vary depending on development, inflation of overall tax rates.


NPV calculations represent estimated amount of funds that could be borrowed (including project cost, capitalized interest and issuance costs).


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9


Tax Increment Projection Worksheet


Mixed Use
March 8, 2022


20


No







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 26 


Financing and Implementation 


Table 3 provides a summary of the District’s financing plan.  However, the City 
anticipates entering into Municipal Revenue Obligations (MRO) with developers as 
a form of financing of infrastructure improvements constructed by developer and 
to incentivize an affordable housing development. 


Based on the Project Cost expenditures as included within the cash flow exhibit 
(Table 4), the District is projected to accumulate sufficient funds by the year 2041 
to pay off all Project cost liabilities and obligations. The projected closure is based 
on the various assumptions noted in this Plan and will vary dependent on actual 
Project Costs incurred and the actual amount of tax increments collected. 


Table 3 – Financing Plan 


 


G.O. Bond
2025 Totals


Projects
Rutland-Dunn Signals 294,000 294,000
51 Corridor Enhanced Pedestrian Features 36,000 36,000
51 Corridor Wider Sidewalks 360,000 360,000
51 Corridor Lighting 572,400 572,400
51 Corridor Trees and Landscapting 120,000 120,000


Total Project Funds 1,382,400 1,382,400


Estimated Finance Related Expenses
Municipal Advisor 20,000
Bond Counsel 12,000
Disclosure Counsel 7,200
Rating Agency Fee 14,000
Paying Agent 850
Underwriter Discount 12.50 18,188


Total Financing Required 1,454,638


Estimated Interest 0.05% (346)
Assumed spend down (months) 6


Rounding 708


Net Issue Size 1,455,000 1,455,000


Notes:


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9


Estimated Financing Plan







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 27 


Table 4 – Cash Flow 


 


 


 


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District #9
Cash Flow Projection


Affordable
Dated Date:  Dvorak Housing


Year Principal Est. Rate Interest MRO MRO Year


2022 0 15,500 15,500 (15,500) (15,500) 8,600,000 2022
2023 0 5,000 5,000 (5,000) (20,500) 8,600,000 2023
2024 222,853 222,853 151,727 0 5,100 156,827 66,026 45,526 11,710,425 2024
2025 236,222 346 1,455,000 1,691,568 175,216 0 1,382,400 72,238 5,202 1,635,056 56,512 102,038 12,990,209 2025
2026 508,398 508,398 100,000 3.00% 58,640 278,679 127,465 5,306 570,090 (61,692) 40,347 12,484,065 2026
2027 576,451 576,451 100,000 3.00% 39,150 290,471 177,128 5,412 612,161 (35,710) 4,637 11,916,466 2027
2028 779,543 779,543 115,000 3.00% 35,925 442,050 178,014 5,520 776,509 3,034 7,671 11,181,402 2028
2029 796,224 796,224 125,000 3.00% 32,325 453,817 178,904 5,631 795,677 547 8,218 10,423,681 2029
2030 819,270 819,270 130,000 3.00% 28,500 470,352 179,798 5,743 814,393 4,877 13,095 9,643,531 2030
2031 888,247 888,247 155,000 3.00% 24,225 521,333 180,697 5,858 887,113 1,134 14,229 8,786,501 2031
2032 957,568 957,568 175,000 3.00% 19,275 572,566 181,601 5,975 954,417 3,151 17,381 7,857,334 2032
2033 962,356 962,356 180,000 3.00% 13,950 575,395 182,509 6,095 957,949 4,407 21,788 6,919,430 2033
2034 967,168 967,168 185,000 3.00% 8,475 578,238 183,421 6,217 961,351 5,817 27,605 5,972,771 2034
2035 972,004 972,004 190,000 3.00% 2,850 581,094 184,338 6,341 964,623 7,381 34,985 5,017,339 2035
2036 976,864 976,864 583,964 185,260 6,468 775,692 201,172 236,157 4,248,115 2036
2037 981,748 981,748 586,848 186,186 6,597 779,631 202,117 438,274 3,475,081 2037
2038 986,657 986,657 589,745 187,117 6,729 783,591 203,066 641,340 2,698,219 2038
2039 991,590 991,590 592,656 188,053 6,864 787,573 204,017 845,357 1,917,510 2039
2040 996,548 996,548 595,580 188,993 7,001 791,574 204,974 1,050,331 1,132,937 2040
2041 1,001,531 1,001,531 560,269 189,938 7,141 757,348 244,183 1,294,514 382,730 2041
2042 1,006,538 1,006,538 0 190,888 7,284 198,172 808,366 2,102,881 191,842 2042
2043 1,011,571 1,011,571 0 191,842 7,430 199,272 812,299 2,915,180 0 2043


Total 16,639,353 346 1,455,000 18,094,698 1,455,000 263,315 8,600,000 3,262,152 1,382,400 72,238 144,414 15,179,519 Total


Notes:
Projected TID Closure


Total 
Expenditures Annual Cumulative


Principal 
Outstanding


Debt 
Issuance 


Costs


Balances


Capital Admin.


Expenditures
G.O. Bond
1,455,000


06/15/25


Projected Revenues


Tax 
Increments


Interest 
Earnings/ 


(Cost)


Proceeds 
from Long-
Term Debt


Total 
Revenues







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 28 


SECTION 10: 


Annexed Property 


A tax incremental district cannot include annexed territory unless at least three 
years have elapsed since the annexation, or certain other requirements are met. 
None of the property within the proposed District boundary was annexed during 
the past three years. 


 


SECTION 11:  
Estimate of Property to Be Devoted to Retail 
Business 


Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(5)(b), the City estimates that less than 35% of the 
territory within the District will be devoted to retail business at the end of the 
District’s maximum expenditure period.  


 


SECTION 12:  
Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master 
Plan, Map, Building Codes and City Ordinances 


Zoning Ordinances 


The proposed Plan is in general conformance with the City’s current zoning 
ordinances. Individual properties may require rezoning at the time of development. 


Master (Comprehensive) Plan and Map 


The proposed Plan is in general conformance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan 
identifying the area as appropriate for mixed use development.  


Building Codes and Ordinances 


Development within the District will be required to conform to State Building Codes 
and will be subject to the City's permitting and inspection procedures. The 
proposed Plan conforms to all relevant State and local ordinances, plans, and 
codes. No changes to the existing regulations are proposed or needed. 


 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 29 
 


SECTION 13:  
How Creation of the Tax Incremental District 
Promotes the Orderly Development of the City 


Creation of the District and the implementation of the projects in its Plan will 
promote the orderly development of the City by creating opportunities for mixed 
use development, providing necessary public infrastructure improvements and 
providing appropriate financial incentives for private development projects. 
Through use of tax increment financing, the City can attract new investment that 
results in increased tax base. Development will occur in an orderly fashion in 
accordance with approved plans so that the Projects will be compatible with 
adjacent land uses. Development of new uses in the District will add to the tax base 
and will generate positive secondary impacts in the community such as increased 
employment opportunities and additional housing which will have a positive impact 
on the local school district. 


 
SECTION 15:  
List of Estimated Non-Project Costs 


Non-project costs are public works projects which only partly benefit the District. 
Costs incurred that do not benefit the District may not be paid with tax increments. 
Examples of non-project costs are: 


• A public improvement made within the District that also benefits property 
outside the District. That portion of the total Project Costs allocable to 
properties outside of the District would be a non-project cost.  


• A public improvement made outside the District that only partially benefits 
property within the District. That portion of the total Project Costs allocable 
to properties outside of the District would be a non-project cost. 


• Projects undertaken within the District as part of the implementation of this 
Project Plan, the costs of which are paid fully or in part by impact fees, grants, 
special assessments, or revenues other than tax increments. 


No improvements to be made within the District will benefit property outside the 
District. Furthermore, there will be no improvements made outside the District that 
will only partially benefit the District. 


 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 30 
 


SECTION 16:  
Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is 
Complete and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 
66.1105(4)(f) 


Legal Opinion Found on Following Page. 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 31 
 


Insert Signed Legal Opinion 


 
SAMPLE 
 
Mayor 
City of Stoughton 
381 E Main St 
Stoughton, Wisconsin 53589 
 
RE: Project Plan for Tax Incremental District No. 9 
 
Dear Mayor: 
 
Wisconsin Statute 66.1105(4)(f) requires that a project plan for a tax incremental 
financing district include an opinion provided by the City Attorney advising as to 
whether the plan is complete and complies with Wisconsin Statute 66.1105.  
 
As City Attorney for the City of Stoughton, I have been asked to review the 
above-referenced project plan for compliance with the applicable statutory 
requirements. Based upon my review, in my opinion, the Project Plan for the City 
of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 9 is complete and complies with the 
provisions of Wisconsin Statute 66.1105. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
City Attorney 
  







Tax Incremental District No. 9 Project Plan  City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 32 
 


SECTION 17:  
Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments 
Estimated to be Paid by the Owners of Property in 
the Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions 


The following projection is provided to meet the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 
66.1105(4)(i)4. 


 


Statement of Taxes Data Year: 2021
Percentage


Dane County 3,720,257 14.01%
City of Stoughton 9,911,584 37.33%
School District of Stoughton Area 11,882,736 44.75%
Madison Area Technical College 1,037,741 3.91%


Total 26,552,317


Revenue Year Dane County
City of 


Stoughton


School District 
of Stoughton 


Area


Madison Area 
Technical 
College Total Revenue Year


2024 31,224 83,188 99,731 8,710 222,853 2024
2025 33,097 88,178 105,715 9,232 236,222 2025
2026 71,232 189,778 227,519 19,870 508,398 2026
2027 80,767 215,181 257,974 22,529 576,451 2027
2028 109,222 290,992 348,862 30,467 779,543 2028
2029 111,559 297,219 356,328 31,119 796,224 2029
2030 114,788 305,821 366,641 32,019 819,270 2030
2031 124,453 331,569 397,510 34,715 888,247 2031
2032 134,165 357,446 428,532 37,425 957,568 2032
2033 134,836 359,233 430,675 37,612 962,356 2033
2034 135,510 361,029 432,829 37,800 967,168 2034
2035 136,188 362,835 434,993 37,989 972,004 2035
2036 136,869 364,649 437,168 38,179 976,864 2036
2037 137,553 366,472 439,353 38,370 981,748 2037
2038 138,241 368,304 441,550 38,561 986,657 2038
2039 138,932 370,146 443,758 38,754 991,590 2039
2040 139,627 371,997 445,977 38,948 996,548 2040
2041 140,325 373,857 448,207 39,143 1,001,531 2041
2042 141,027 375,726 450,448 39,338 1,006,538 2042
2043 141,732 377,604 452,700 39,535 1,011,571 2043


2,331,347 6,211,222 7,446,470 650,314 16,639,353


Notes:
The projection shown above is provided to meet the requirments of Wisconsin Statute 66.1105(4)(i)4.


Estimated portion of taxes that owners of taxable property in each taxing jurisdiction 
overlaying district would pay by jurisdiction.





		Project Plan 2.25.22.pdf

		Executive Summary

		Preliminary Map of Proposed District Boundary

		Map Showing Existing Uses and Conditions

		Preliminary Parcel List and Analysis

		Equalized Value Test

		Statement Listing the Kind, Number and Location of All Proposed Public Works or Improvements Within the District

		Map Showing Proposed Improvements and Uses

		Detailed List of Estimated Project Costs

		Economic Feasibility Study, Description of the Methods of Financing Estimated Project Costs and the Time When Related Costs or Monetary Obligations are to be Incurred

		Annexed Property

		Estimate of Property to Be Devoted to Retail Business

		Proposed Changes of Zoning Ordinances, Master Plan, Map, Building Codes and City Ordinances

		How Creation of the Tax Incremental District Promotes the Orderly Development of the City

		List of Estimated Non-Project Costs

		Legal Opinion Advising Whether the Plan is Complete and Complies with Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4)(f)

		Calculation of the Share of Projected Tax Increments Estimated to be Paid by the Owners of Property in the Overlying Taxing Jurisdictions








T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2022\031422\PC Info\183 E Main CUP Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 
 
 


 
 
Date:  March 8, 2022 
 
To:  Plan Commissioners and Common Council    
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the March 14, 2022 Plan Commission Meeting and  


Common Council Meeting of March 22, 2022. 
 
Proposed conditional use permit request to allow an Indoor Commercial Entertainment Use 
(restaurant/tavern type uses) at 183/187 E. Main Street. 
This request is to allow restaurant/tavern type uses to be located at 183/187 E. Main Street.  The 
owner is proposing to expand the uses to include various classes, demonstrations, tastings and other 
events.  A public hearing and recommendation to Council is necessary.  The resolution and related 
materials are provided.   
  
 
   
 
 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\183 E. Main Street CUP 2022.docx 


 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. FORREST STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Approving a Conditional Use Permit request for an Indoor Commercial Entertainment use 
(restaurant/tavern type uses) at 183/187 E. Main Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin. 


Committee Action: Plan Commission recommends approval  - 0 


Fiscal Impact: None. 
 


File Number: R- -2022 Date Introduced: 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 
 
WHEREAS, on March 14, 2022 the City of Stoughton Plan Commission held a public hearing and 
reviewed the proposed conditional use permit application for an Indoor Commercial Entertainment use 
(restaurant/tavern type uses) at 183/187 E. Main Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin; and 


 
WHEREAS, the Zoning Administrator has determined: 


• The proposed conditional use (the use in general and at the proposed specific location) is in harmony 
with the purposes, goals, objectives, policies and standards of the City of Stoughton comprehensive 
Plan, zoning ordinance or any other plan; 


• The conditional use in its proposed location and as depicted on the required site plan does not result 
in a substantial or undue adverse impact on nearby property, the character of the neighborhood, 
environmental factors, traffic factors, parking, public improvements, public property or rights-of- 
way, or other matters affecting the public health, safety, or general welfare, either as they now exist 
or as they may in the future be developed as a result of the implementation of the provisions of this 
chapter, the comprehensive plan, or any other plan, program, map, or ordinance adopted or under 
consideration pursuant to official notice by the city of other government agency having jurisdiction 
to guide development; 


• The proposed conditional use maintains the desired consistency of land uses, land use intensities, and 
land use impacts as related to the environs of the subject property; 


• The proposed conditional use is located in an area that will be adequately served by and will not 
impose an undue burden on any of the improvements, facilities, utilities or services provided by 
public agencies serving the subject property; 


• The potential public benefits of the proposed conditional use outweigh any and all potential adverse 
impacts of the proposed conditional use, after taking into consideration the applicant’s proposal and 
any requirements recommended by the applicant to ameliorate such impacts; and 


 
WHEREAS, the Plan Commission and Common Council determined the proposed conditional use permit 
will not create undesirable impacts on nearby properties, the environment, nor the community as a whole; 
now therefore 







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\183 E. Main Street CUP 2022.docx 


 


BE IT RESOLVED, by the City of Stoughton Common Council that the Conditional Use Permit request for 
Indoor Commercial Entertainment use (restaurant/tavern type uses) at 183/187 E. Main Street is hereby 
approved as presented. 
 


 
 


Council Action: Adopted Failed Vote    


 
 
Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 


 
 


 


Tim Swadley, Mayor Date 
 


 
Council Action:  Override Vote    


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE 
 


The City of Stoughton Plan Commission will hold a Virtual Public Hearing on Monday, March 14, 
2022 at 6:00 o’clock p.m., or as soon after as the matter may be heard, to consider a Conditional Use 
Permit Application by J & S Nordic Enterprises LLC (Cheesers).  The applicant is requesting 
conditional use approval for an Indoor Commercial Entertainment use at 183 E. Main Street, 
Stoughton, WI. 53589.    The property description is as follows: 
Parcel Number: 281/0511-081-2111-2 
Description for tax purposes:  ORIGINAL PLAT BLOCK 27 W 22 FT OF E 44 FT LOT 1 
*This property description is for tax purposes. It may be abbreviated. For the complete legal 
description please refer to the deed.  
 
See additional information including location map at: http://stoughtoncitydocs.com/planning-
commission/ 
 
You can join the meeting via Zoom or Phone below: 
https://zoom.us/j/94609974784?pwd=eUUyV3g3anpKSzRkQWVHTUtHT3NFQT09 
 
Phone in:  +1 312 626 6799      Meeting ID: 946 0997 4784  Passcode: 427325 
 
If you wish to call in and speak at the meeting, please register at: http://speak.cityofstoughton.com by 
5:45 on or before the day of the meeting. Any written comments will be forwarded on to the 
“Organizer” and Commissioners. 
 
For questions regarding this notice please contact Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator at 608-646-
0421.   
 
     
Published February 17 and 24, 2022 Hub 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Conditional Uses\Condtional Use Notices\Cheesers CUP Notice 2022.doc 



https://zoom.us/j/94609974784?pwd=eUUyV3g3anpKSzRkQWVHTUtHT3NFQT09

http://speak.cityofstoughton.com/

























        MAIN   FLOORSECOND    FLOOR







S 
A


ca
de


m
y 


St


E South St


W Jefferson St


E Main St


Giles St


St


H
ill


 S
t


S 
D


iv
is


io
n 


St


St


North St


Fo
rto


n


W Washington St


Clay St


S 
W


at
er


 S
t


S 
Fr


an
kl


in
 S


t


Nelson St


Giles St
S 


Pr
ai


rie
 S


t


W Washington St


N
 F


ra
nk


S 
M


ad
is


on
 S


t


Garfield St


n St


Oak St


E Jefferson St


S 
Fi


fth
 S


t


E Washington St


S 
Fo


rr
es


t S
t


N
 


C
hu


rc
h 


St


S 
Si


xt
h 


St


S 
Se


ve
nt


h 
St


S 
Fi


fth
 S


t


N
D


S Lynn St


M
an


ill
a 


N
Fo


rre
st


St


Park St


Mai n -P
ag


e
C


t


Ei
gh


th
 S


t


N
 M


ad N
 P


H
ill


si
de


X



mstacey

Highlight







[- 1 -] 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON      RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT        DIRECTOR 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589    (608) 873-6619 
www.cityofstoughton.com/planning          fax: (608) 873-5519 


       
 
 


February 16, 2022 
 
J & S Nordic Enterprises LLC 
Brian Johnson 
183 E. Main Street 
Stoughton, WI.  53589 
 
 
Dear Mr. Johnson: 
 
I have completed a review of the proposed conditional uses for Cheeser’s, 183 E. Main Street, 
Stoughton, WI.  (Application provided 2/2//22)  A conditional use public hearing (indoor 
commercial entertainment uses) is planned for the Plan Commission meeting of March 14, 2022.  
We need an indoor layout showing how you plan to use the building for alcohol 
consumption. 
 
1. The property at 183 E. Main Street is zoned CB - Central Business.  All current and 


proposed uses are allowable per zoning code. 
 
Indoor Commercial Entertainment uses such as a tavern use and training studio are permitted 
as a conditional use.  Conditional use permit application submitted. 
 


2. Indoor Commercial Entertainment is defined as follows:   
Description: Indoor commercial entertainment land uses include all land uses which provide 
entertainment services primarily within an enclosed building. Outdoor seating or patio areas 
associated with a proposed indoor commercial entertainment land use shall be allowed 
subject to city approval of a site plan showing any such proposed outdoor seating or patio 
area. Such activities often have operating hours which extend significantly later than most 
other commercial land uses. Examples of such land uses include restaurants, taverns, 
theaters, health or fitness centers, all forms of training studios (dance, art, martial arts, etc.), 
bowling alleys, arcades, roller rinks, and pool halls.  The proposed uses meet this 
definition.   


 
3. Regulations related to Indoor Commercial Entertainment uses are as follows:  


• If located on the same side of the building as abutting residentially zoned property, no 
customer entrance of any kind shall be permitted within 150 feet, or as far as possible, 
of a residentially zoned property.  N/A 
 


• Facility shall provide bufferyard with minimum opacity of .60 along all borders of the 
property abutting residentially zoned property (see section 78-610).  N/A 



http://www.cityofstoughton.com/planning





[- 2 -] 
 


• Parking requirements: One space per every three patron seats or lockers (whichever 
is greater); or one space per three persons at the maximum capacity of the 
establishment; (whichever is greater).  N/A is the downtown area zoned Central 
Business. 


 
4. The proposed use and zoning meets the intent of the City Comprehensive Plan. 


 
 
 


 
If you have any questions, please contact me at 608-646-0421 


 


    Sincerely, 
    City of Stoughton 
  
    Michael P. Stacey 
 
    Michael P. Stacey 


Zoning Administrator 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


s:\planning\property log folder\183-187 e. main street\cup request 2.8.22\cheesers cup review 2022.doc 








\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Annexation Ordinances\Teigen Farm Annexation 2022.doc 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 
 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 
AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE DIRECT ANNEXATION BY UNANIMOUS 


APPROVAL OF A PORTION OF THE TOWN OF DUNKIRK TO THE CITY OF STOUGHTON, 
DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 


 


Committee Action:    Plan Commission recommends Council approval  -   
Fiscal Impact:       Unknown 


File Number: O -  - 2022 Date Introduced: 
 


 


 
RECITALS 


 
A. Robert Hostrawser (“Owner”) owns land in the Town of Dunkirk as described in Exhibit A and 


shown in Exhibit B (the “Territory”) and is seeking to annex the Territory by unanimous 
approval to the City of Stoughton, pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.0217(2). 


 
B. The City of Stoughton Plan Commission has recommended that the Territory be annexed to the 


City, and that the Territory be assigned a temporary zoning classification of RH - Rural 
Holding. 
 


C. The proposed annexation will need to be reviewed by the Wisconsin Department of 
Administration to determine if the annexation is in the public interest. 
 


D. The population of the proposed land is 0. 
 


E. The annexation represents approximately 38.467 acres from the Town of Dunkirk. 
 


 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin, 


does ordain as follows: 
 


ORDINANCE 
 
1. Recitals.  The above recitals are material to and are incorporated in this Ordinance. 


 
2. Territory Annexed.  The Territory is annexed by unanimous approval to the City of 


Stoughton pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 66.0217(2). 


3. Effect of Annexation.  From and after the effective date of this ordinance, the Territory 
shall be a part of the City of Stoughton for any and all purposes provided by law, and all 







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Annexation Ordinances\Teigen Farm Annexation 2022.doc 


persons coming or residing within such Territory shall be subject to all ordinances, 
rules, and regulations governing the City of Stoughton. 


4. Temporary Zoning Designation.  The Territory shall be temporarily zoned R-H Rural 
Holding. 


5. Ward Designation.  The Territory shall be added to Ward No.5 of the City of Stoughton. 


6. Clerk Duties.  The City Clerk is hereby directed to publish notice of and provide copies 
of this Ordinance in accordance with the applicable Wisconsin Statutes. 


7. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall take effect upon passage and publication as 
provided by law. 
 
 


 
APPROVED: 
 
 
By:        
Tim Swadley, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
        
Candee Christen, City Clerk 


APPROVED:  ___________ 
PUBLISHED: ___________ 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Annexation Ordinances\Teigen Farm Annexation 2022.doc 


 
 


EXHIBIT  A 
 


LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 


A part of the Southeast¼ of the Southwest¼ and the Southwest¼ of the Southeast¼ of Section 8, 
Township 5 North, Range 11 East in the Town of Dunkirk, Dane County, Wisconsin, more particularly 
described as follows:  
Beginning at the South¼ corner of said Section 8; thence South 89°50'45" West along the South line of 
the Southeast¼ of the Southwest¼ of said Section 8, a distance of 1072.96 feet; thence North  
00°33'26" West, a distance of 255.01 feet; thence South 89°50'45" West, a distance of 255.47 feet to a 
point on the West line of the said Southeast¼ of the Southwest¼; thence North 00°08'05" East along 
the said West line, a distance of 899.02 feet to the Southwest corner of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map  
(CSM) No. 8119; thence South 89°59'58" East along the South line of said CSM No. 8119, a distance 
of 790.06 feet to a point on the West Right-of-Way line of S. Page Street; thence South 00°37'54" 
West along the said West Right-of-Way line, a distance of 40.00 feet; thence South 89°59'58" East 
along the South line of CSM No. 8119 and CSM No. 8118, a distance of 525.20 feet to the Southeast 
corner of Lot 4 of said CSM No. 8118; thence North 00°24'48" West along the West line of said Lot 4, 
a distance of 20.00 feet; thence South 89°59'58" East, a distance of 172.75 feet to the centerline of S. 
4th Street; thence southeasterly 168.63 feet along the said centerline being a curve to the left having a 
radius of 786.20 feet, the chord of said curve bears South 24°12' 47" East a distance of 168.30 feet; 
thence South 30°21 '26" East along the said centerline, a distance of 407.34 feet; thence South 
59°16'57" West, a distance of 247.92 feet to a northerly angle point of CSM No. 15888; thence South 
80°54'48" West along the North line of said CSM No. 15888, a distance of 137.98 feet to the 
Northwest corner of said CSM No. 15888; thence South 00°10'56" West along the West line of said 
CSM No. 15888, a distance of 477.25 feet to a point on the South line of the Southwest¼ of the 
Southeast¼ of said Section 8; thence North 89°49'05" West along the said South line, a distance of 
82.63 feet to the Point of Beginning.  
Said parcel contains 1,675,642 square feet or 38.467 acres more or less including areas within S. 4th 
Street and Aaker Road. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Annexation Ordinances\Teigen Farm Annexation 2022.doc 


EXHIBIT B 
 
 
 
 


 
 











F
ile


 N
am


e:
 G
:\2


1\
21


66
9\


21
66


90
00


\C
A


D
D


\S
ur


ve
y\


A
ak


er
 B


ou
nd


ar
y.


dw
g


CHECKED BY:


PROJECT NO.:


PROJECT DATE:


SCALE:


DRAWN BY:


AS SHOWN NO. DATE BY


SHEET


FILE NO.REVISION


ANNEXATION MAP
1


N


EW


S


WI
Madison


0 100' 200'


ELDON LAND DEVELOPMENT LLC
AAKER RD AND 4TH STREET HOUSING DEVELOPMENT


STOUGHTON, WI


POINT OF
BEGINNING


CSM 8118


SE 1/4 - SW 1/4


SEC. 8, T5N, R11E


TOWN OF


DUNKIRK


CITY OF


STOUGHTON


CURVE     LENGTH       RADIUS      CHORD BEARING      CHORD LENGTH
 C1         168.63'          786.20'   S24°12'47"E 168.30'


 


CURVE TABLE


EXHIBIT "B"
LANDS TO BE ANNEXED TO
THE CITY OF STOUGHTON


ENACTMENT NO. _______________


FILE ID NO. ____________________


DATE ADOPTED ________________


DATE PUBLISHED _______________


AREA:  38.467 ACRES


DRAFTED BY:
MSA PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
1702 PANKRATZ STREET
MADISON, WI 53704
608-242-7779


89
9.


02
'  


  N
00


°0
8'


05
"E


19091001


05/16/18


TM


KCL 21669000


SW 1/4 - SE 1/4


SEC. 8, T5N, R11E


255.47'    S89°50'45"W


25
5.


01
'  


  N
00


°3
3'


26
"W


1072.96'    S89°50'45"W


82.63'
N89°49'05"W


47
7.


25
'  


  S
00


°1
0'


56
"W


137.98'


S80°54'48"W


247.92'    S
59°16'57"W


407.34'    S30°21'26"E


790.06'    S89°59'58"E


525.20'    S89°59'58"E


20.00'
N00°24'48"W


40.00'
S00°37'54"W


172.75'
S89°59'58"E


C1


CITY OF


STOUGHTON CITY OF


STOUGHTON


TOWN OF


DUNKIRK


TOWN OF


DUNKIRK


TOWN OF


DUNKIRK


SOUTH 1/4 CORNER
SECTION 8 SOUTHEAST


CORNER SECTION 8


SOUTHWEST
CORNER SECTION 8


1590.09'    S89°50'45"W 2659.04'    N89°49'05"W


PLAT OF
SURVEY
RIESOP


1986
LOT 1 LOT 2 LOT 3 LOT 4LOT 1 LOT 2


LOT 3


CSM 8119


CSM
11716


LOT 1


CSM
4722


LOT 2


PLAT OF
SURVEY
ELY 1962


PLAT OF
SURVEY


BIRRENKOTT
2013


PLAT OF
SURVEY


FEY


PLAT OF
SURVEY


LORD
2004-00391


CSM
15888


LOT 1


(137.96')



AutoCAD SHX Text

ISHAM STREET



AutoCAD SHX Text

S. 4TH STREET



AutoCAD SHX Text

AAKER ROAD



AutoCAD SHX Text

S. PAGE STREET



AutoCAD SHX Text

ISHAM STREET







Request for 
Annexation Review 
Wisconsin Department of Administration 


Petitioner Information 


WI Dept. of Administration 
Municipal Boundary Review 
PO Box 1645, Madison WI 53701 
608-264-6102 


Name: Robert Hostrawser, Rob Real Estate Brokerage & Builders, LLC 


Phone: (608) 213-1807 


Email: build@parkercoleconstruction.com 


Contact Information if different than etitioner: 


Representative's Name: Jeffrey D. Thelen, MSA Professional Services, Inc. 


Phone: (608) 355-8911 


E-mail: ,ithelen@msa-ps.com 


1. Town where property is located: Town of Dunkirk 


2. Petitioned City or Village: Stoughton 


3. County where property is located: Dane 


4. Population of the territory to be annexed: O 


5. Area (in acres) of the territory to be annexed: 38.467 
6. Tax parcel number(s) of territory to be annexed (if the territory is part or all of an existing parcel): 


026/0511-083-9651-3 & 026/0511-084-9652-0 


Include these re uired items with this form: 
1. l:gJ Legal Description meeting the requirements of s.66.0217 (1) (c) [see attached annexation guide] 


2. l:gJ Map meeting the requirements of s. 66.0217 (1, (g) [see attached annexation guide] 


3. l:gJ Signed Petition or Notice of Intent to Circulate [see attached annexation guide] 


4. l:gJ Check or money order covering review fee [see next page for fee calculation] 


(2021) 



schmiejjwl

MBR Date Stamp



schmiejjwl

Text Box

February 23, 2022







Annexation Review Fee Schedule 
A Guide for Calculating the Fee Required by ss.16.53 (4) and 66.0217, Wis. Stats. 


Required Fees 
There is an initial filing fee and a variable review fee 


$350 Initial Filing Fee (required with the first submittal of all petitions) 
$200 - 2 acres or less 
$350 -2.01 acres or more 


$800 Review Fee (required with all annexation submittals except those that consist ONLY of road right-of-way) 


$200 - 2 acres or less 
$600 - 2.01 to 10 acres 
$800- 10.01 to 50 acres 


$1,000 - 50.01 to 100 acres 
$1,400 - 100.01 to 200 acres 
$2,000 - 200.01 to 500 acres 
$4,000- Over 500 acres 


$1,150 TOTAL FEE DUE (Add the Filing Fee to the Review Fee) 


Include check or money order, payable to: Department of Administration 


DON'T attach the check with staples, tape, ... 


THE DEPARTMENT WILL NOT PROCESS 
AN ANNEXATION PETITION THAT IS NOT ACCOMPANIED 


BY THE REQUIRED FEE. 


THE DEPARTMENT'S 20-DAY STATUTORY REVIEW PERIOD 
COMMENCES UPON RECEIPT OF THE PETITION AND REVIEW FEE 


Shaded Area for Office Use Only 


Payer: -='--'-=...:;...:-.:..-__,;=......,..__-+""-==-==~...1.1-\,..i.;..-....-._~-=-==----- Check Number: -i:-"....__~


Check Date: -=--L...:oo:.....::~, 
Amount: p / 50 °0 







ANNEXATION SUBMITTAL GUIDE 


s. 66,()217 (5! THE PETITION 
~ State the purpose of the petition: 


~ Petition must be signed by: 


-Direct annexation by unanimous approval; OR 
-Direct annexation by one-half approval; OR 
-Annexation by referendum. 


-All owners and electors, ifby unanimous approval. 
-See 66.0:217 (3) (fil, ifby one-half approval. 
-See 66.0 17 (3) (Q), ifby referendum. 


~ State the population of the land to be annexed 


[It is beneficial to include Parcel ID or Tax numbers, the parcel area, and identify the annexee (Town) and annexor 
(Village or City) in the petition.] 


s. 66.0217 (1) (cl THE DESCRIPTION 
~ The annexation petition must include a legal description of the land to be annexed. The land must be described by 
reference to the government lot, private claim, quarter-section, section, town and range in which the land lies. The land must 
be further described by metes and bounds commencing from a monumented corner of the section or quarter-section, or the 
monumented end of a private claim or federal reservation, in which the land lies; OR 


~ If the land is wholly and entirely within a lot or lots, or all of a block or blocks of a recorded subdivision plat or certified 
survey map, it must be descnbed by reference to the lot (s) and/or block (s) therein, along with the name of the plat or the 
number, volume, page, and County of the certified survey map. 


~ The land may NOT be described only by: -Aliquot part; 
-Reference to any other document (plat of survey, deed, etc.); 
-Exception or Inclusion; 
-Parcel ID or tax number. 


~ THE MAP 
~ The map shall be an accurate reflection of the legal description of the parcel being annexed. AB such, it must show: 
-A tie line from the parcel to the monumented comer of the section or quarter-section, or the monumented end of a private claim 
or federal reservation, in which the parcel lies. The comer and monument must be identified. 
-Bearings and distances along all parcel boundaries as described. 
-All adjoiners as referenced in the description. 


~ The map must include a graphic scale. 


~ The map must show and identify the existing municipal boundary, in relation to the parcel being annexed. 


[It is beneficial to include a North arrow, and identify adjacent streets and parcels on the map.] 


s. 66.0217 FILING 
~ The petition must be filed with the Clerk of the annexing City or Village and with the Clerk of the Town in which the land 
is located. 


D If the annexation is by one-half approval, or by referendum, the petitioner must post notice of the proposed annexation as 
required bys. 66.0217 (4). 





		Sheets and Views

		Annex



		Petition for Annexation.docx

		Petition for Annexation.docx










T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2022\031422\PC Info\Moe Farm Production Facility Concept Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 
 
 


 
 
Date:  March 8, 2022 
 
To:  Plan Commissioners    
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the March 14, 2022 Plan Commission Meeting  
 
Proposed planned development concept plan for a food production and storage facility at the 
Moe Farm lands along Williams Drive. 
This request is to introduce a planned development concept plan for a proposed food production and 
storage facility.  We anticipate an annexation request and an urban service area amendment will be 
necessary.  A planned development, general development plan will also be anticipated.   
  
 
   
 
 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





S:\Planning\MPS\Forms&Pamphlets\Applications 2017\Planned Development APP.doc


City of Stoughton Application for Planned Development (PD) Review and Approval
(Requirements per Section 78-914)


Applicant Name: _______________________________________________________________


Applicant Address: ______________________________________________________________


Applicant Phone and Email: _______________________________________________________


Property Owner Name (if different than applicant): _____________________________________


Property Owner Phone: __________________________________________________________


Subject Property Address: _________________________________________________________


This form is designed to be used by the Applicant as a guide to submitting a complete application for a
planned development and by the City to process said application. Parts II is to be used by the Applicant
to submit a complete application; Parts I - III are to be used by the City as a guide when processing said
application.


I. Recordation of Administrative Procedures for City Use


Application form filed with Zoning Administrator Date: _______________


Application fee of $_____ received by Zoning Administrator Date: _______________


II. Application Submittal Packet Requirements for Applicant Use


PD Process Step 1: Pre-application


Step 1 does not require the submittal of an application packet; however, Steps 2-4 do require submittal
of all application materials to the Zoning Administrator prior to Plan Commission review. This step is
not mandatory but optional at the discretion of the applicant or Zoning Administrator.


 A. Contact the Zoning Administrator to place an informal discussion item for the PD on the Plan
Commission agenda (if deemed necessary by the applicant or Zoning Administrator). No details
beyond the name of the Applicant and the identification of the discussion item as a PD is required to
be given in the agenda.


 B. Engage in an informal discussion with the Plan Commission regarding the potential PD. Appropriate
topics may include: location, project themes and images, general mix of dwelling unit types and/or
land uses being considered, approximate residential densities, and non-residential intensities, general
treatment of natural features, general relationship to nearby properties and public streets, and
relationship to the Comprehensive Plan.


NOTE: Points of discussion and conclusions reached in this stage of the process shall in no way be
binding upon the Applicant or the City, but should be considered as the informal, non-binding basis for
proceeding to the next step.


PD Process Step 2: Concept Plan


The Applicant shall provide a draft application for staff and Planning Commission review as follows:


 A. Provide Zoning Administrator with draft PD Concept Plan Submittal Packet for
determination of completeness prior to placing the proposed PD on the Plan Commission
agenda for Concept Plan review. The submittal packet shall contain all of the following items:
 (1) A general written description of proposed PD including the following:


 General project themes and images.







S:\Planning\MPS\Forms&Pamphlets\Applications 2017\Planned Development APP.doc


 The general mix of dwelling unit types and/or land uses.


 Approximate residential densities and non-residential intensities as described by
dwelling units per acre, floor area ratio and impervious surface area ratio.


 The general treatment of natural features.


 The general relationship to nearby properties and public streets.


 The general relationship of the project to the Comprehensive Plan.


 An initial draft list of zoning standards which will not be met by the proposed
PD and the location(s) in which they apply and, a complete list of zoning
standards which will be more than met by the proposed PD and the location(s) in
which they apply. Essentially, the purpose of this listing shall be to provide the
Plan Commission with information necessary to determine the relative merits of
the project in regard to private benefit versus public benefit, and in regard to the
mitigation of potential adverse impacts created by design flexibility.


 (3) A written description of potentially requested exemption(s) from the requirements of the
underlying zoning district, in the following order:
1. Land Use Exemptions


2. Density and Intensity Exemptions


3. Bulk Exemptions


4. Landscaping Exceptions


5. Parking and Loading Requirements Exceptions


 (4) A conceptual plan drawing (at 11" x 17") of the general land use layout and the general
location of major public streets and/or private drives. The Applicant may submit
copies of a larger version of the plan in addition to the 11" x 17" reduction.


PD Process Step 3: General Development Plan (GDP)


The Applicant shall submit an application for staff and Planning Commission review as follows:


 A. Provide Zoning Administrator with a draft GDP Submittal Packet for determination of
completeness prior to placing the proposed PD on the Plan Commission agenda for GDP
review. The submittal packet shall contain all of the following items:
 (2) A map of the subject property for which the PD is proposed:


 Clearly indicating the current zoning of the subject property and its surroundings,
and the jurisdiction(s) which maintains that control.


 Map and all its parts clearly reproducible with a photocopier.


 Map size of 11" x 17" and map scale not less than one inch equals 800 feet.


 All lot dimensions of the subject property provided.


 Graphic scale and north arrow provided.


 (3) A general written description of proposed PD including:
 General project themes and images.


 The general mix of dwelling unit types and/or land uses.


 Approximate residential densities and non-residential intensities as described by
dwelling units per acre, floor area ratio and impervious surface area ratio.


 The general treatment of natural features.







  
 


 
JDT:tll\S:\MAD\3700--3799\3701\021\Correspondence\_City\2022.02.28 PDP Materials\Application Letter.docx 


February 28, 2022 
 
 
Mr. Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator 
City of Stoughton Planning Development Services 
207 South Forrest Street 
Stoughton, WI 53589 
 
Re: Industrial Food Production and Storage Facility (Development) 


Sun Prairie 2021 Property Acquisition Company LLC (Applicant) 
 
Dear Mr. Stacey: 
 
Strand Associates, Inc.® (Strand) is representing the Applicant, and, on behalf of the Applicant, Strand 
is submitting this Planned Development Application (Application) for the proposed Development for the 
purposes of developing the agricultural property located at the northeast corner of Williams Drive and 
Glacier Moraine Drive in Stoughton, Wisconsin. 
 
The Applicant is currently under contract to purchase approximately 19 acres at this site for development 
of a food production and associated office facility at this location. The Development includes an 
approximately 134,000-square-foot food production and storage facility which includes production 
space, cold and dry storage, shipping and receiving docks, and a two-story portion for office 
administration and employee welfare areas. The two-story office building will be constructed facing 
Williams Drive. Truck staging and dock areas will be located on the south side of the building with truck 
access from Glacier Moraine Drive. Employee vehicle access and parking will be from Williams Drive. 
A concept plan view of the building, parking, and truck access is enclosed. 


The building is proposed to be constructed of a steel structure supporting a white insulated metal 
panel (IMP) exterior wall system for the cold storage and production portions of the building. Stained 
insulated pre-cast concrete wall panels are proposed for the two-story office and utility chiller room. IMP 
is a durable, high-performing thermal envelope which provides an interior finish compliant with the 
Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) standards (required for food production and storage facilities) in a 
single-wall system that can be efficiently installed in the vertical orientation.  


The site will be landscaped using sustainable plantings native to the area to meet the intent of the 
landscaping requirements associated with Planned Industrial Zoning (Zone PI).  


Because of the nature of the process and product produced in the facility, the Development requires a 
significant amount of cold storage area for efficient operation. Investigation of multiple storage rack 
configurations, room sizes, and ceiling heights has revealed the most economical layout for both 
construction and operation is an approximately 200- by 300-foot area with a 46-foot clear height, which 
requires an overall building height of approximately 49 feet. The remaining production areas of the 
facility have a planned building height of approximately 38 feet while the two-story office will have an 
approximate building height of 26 feet. All portions of the facility will incorporate applicable 
code-required fire protection elements including an automatic fire suppression sprinkler system 
throughout the building as well as any additional firefighting mechanisms required by the fire 







Mr. Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator 
City of Stoughton Planning Development Services 
Page 2 
February 28, 2022 


 
 


 
JDT:tll\S:\MAD\3700--3799\3701\021\Correspondence\_City\2022.02.28 PDP Materials\Application Letter.docx 


department. The Applicant requests relief from the height limitation of 40 feet associated with the 
Zone PI standard. 


In general, the proposed planned development aligns with the City of Stoughton (City) Comprehensive 
Plan goal to strengthen and diversify the nonresidential tax base and employment opportunities. Upon 
completion of the project, approximately 140 jobs will be created with the potential for additional job 
creation after planned near-future expansion of the facility. For this specific location, the Development 
supports the City’s Comprehensive Plan policy to provide efficient and logical expansion areas for the 
City’s industrial parks and to provide for new commercial development opportunities on the east side of 
the community.  


Increasing the height of the cold storage area to 49 feet allows for the most efficient organization of the 
building program and minimizes the building footprint. The proposed layout and height increase: 
1) improves construction efficiency leading to reduced on-site waste, time on site, and embodied energy 
and carbon; 2) increases the amount of site area for planned native plantings; and 3) allows for efficient 
expansion and adaptive reuse opportunities due to the rectangular shape and standard bay spacing. 
Additionally, the project will incorporate infrastructure for a future roof-mounted solar array on the 
38-foot-high production space, contributing further to the City’s goals for sustainable development.  


Based on the previously mentioned information, the Applicant submits this Application for consideration 
and approval of the proposed Planned Development and requests support of the Development. 


Thank you for the consideration of the enclosed Planned Development Application and associated 
conceptual drawings. Please contact me at 608-251-4843 if you need any additional information or if you 
have questions concerning this Application. 


Sincerely, 
 
STRAND ASSOCIATES, INC.® 


 
James D. Ternus, P.E. 
 
Enclosures 
 







 


S:\MAD\3700--3799\3701\021\Correspondence\_City\2022.02.28 PDP Materials\2022-02-28 Draft Legal 
Description.docx 
 


February 28, 2022 
Draft Legal Description 
 
Part of the Southwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 and part of the Northwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 32, 
Township 6 North, Range 11 East, Town of Pleasant Springs, Dane County, Wisconsin, more fully described as follows: 
 
Commencing at the South 1/4 corner of said Section 32; 
Thence N 0° 00' 10" W, 743.24 feet along the west line of the Southwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of said Section 32 to 
the point of beginning; 
 
Thence, S 89° 21' 40" W, 41.91 feet to the westerly right-of-way line of Williams Drive. 
Thence N 00° 06' 48" W, 890.04 feet along said westerly right-of-way line. 
Thence, N 89° 21' 40" E, 43.63 feet to the west line of the Northwest 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of said Section 32. 
Thence, N 89° 21' 40" E, 222.39 feet. 
Thence, N 00° 06' 48" W, 15.00 feet. 
Thence, N 89° 21' 40" E, 700.03 feet. 
Thence, S 00° 06' 48" E, 905.04 feet. 
Thence, S 89° 21' 40" W, 924.13 feet. 
 
Containing 19.98 acres, more or less.  
 
Subject to all existing easements and restrictions, recorded and unrecorded. 







80'


80 '


33'


33'


55 '


66'


25'


FOUND IRON PIPE


FOUND REBAR


FENCE LINE


TREELINE


POST


MANHOLE


WATER VALVE


HYDRANT


DANE COUNTY
 MONUMENT, EXISTING


SET 3/4" O.D. X 24" REBAR
(WEIGHING 1.50 LBS./L.F.)


CORPORATE LIMITS


PROPERTY LINE


RIGHT OF WAY LINE


RECORDED AS


POWER POLE


LIGHT POLE


PEDESTAL


PERMANENT EASEMENT


UTILITY
EASEMENT


SHEET 1 OF 2


BE
A R


IN
G


S  
R


EF
ER


EN
C


ED
 T


O
 T


H
E


W
IS


C
O


N
SI


N
 C


O
U


N
TY


 C
O


O
R


D
IN


AT
E


SY
S T


EM
, D


AN
E 


C
O


U
N


TY


LOT 1


W
IL


LI
AM


S 
D


R
IV


E


FOUND RAILROAD SPIKE
SOUTH 1/4 CORNER 32-6-11


THIS
MAP


TOWN OF PLEASANT SPRINGS


CITY OF STOUGHTON


LOT 1
CSM 4494


V. 19, P. 227
DOC. 1853574


CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO.
PART OF THE SW 1/4 OF THE SE 1/4 AND THE NW1/4 OF THE SE 1/4 OF SECTION 32,


TOWNSHIP 6 NORTH, RANGE 11 EAST, TOWN OF PLEASANT SPRINGS, DANE COUNTY, WISCONSIN.


789,283 S.F. (18.119 ACRES)


(SIZE NOTED)


(SIZE NOTED)


CTH B


GLACIER MORAINE DRIVE


ALL TIES RECOVERED?????


FOUND SURVEY SPIKE & WASHER
CENTER 1/4 CORNER 32-6-11
ALL TIES RECOVERED?????


FOUND BRASS CAP
EAST 1/4 CORNER 32-6-11
ALL TIES RECOVERED?????


LOT 1
CSM 14436
V. 99, P. 112


DOC. 5304607


LOT 4
CSM 15363


V. 110, P. 62-63
DOC. 5566145


LOT 3
CSM 15363


V. 110, P. 62-63
DOC. 5566145


(N
0°


 0
0'


 2
6"


W
  7


43
.3


3'
 )


(N89° 21' 30"E)


1/16 TH
 LIN


E


THIS INSTRUMENT DRAFTED BY:
HEATHER S. BARTELT
SAI PROJECT: 3701.021


SURVEYED UNDER THE DIRECTION
OF MOE FAMILY FARMS, LLC.


1/16TH LINE







R/W R/W R/W R/W R/W R/W


O
H


O
H


O
H


O
H


O
H


O
H


O
H


PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W R/W R/W R/W


PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL


P L
P L


P L
P L


P L
P L


P L
P L


P L
P L


P L
P L


PL


PLPLPLPLPLPLPLPL


PLPL


PL
PL


PL
PL


PL
PL


PL
PL


PL
PL


PL


PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL PL


P L
P L


P L
P L


P L
P L


P L
P L


P L
P L


P L


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


R
/W


25.0'


W
IL


LI
AM


S 
D


R
IV


E


25' ADDITIONAL RIGHT OF
WAY


GLACIER MORAINE DRIVE


225.0'


190.0'


40.0'


30.0'


50
.0


'


C
O


N
C


E
P


T
U


A
L 


S
IT


E
 P


LA
N


1A


A S S O C I A T E S®


SHEET


JOB NO.


PROJECT MGR.


N
O


.
R


E
V


IS
IO


N
S


D
A


T
E


:


P
R


O
JE


C
T


 D
E


LT
A


 S
U


N
 P


R
A


IR
IE


 2
02


1 
P


R
O


P
E


R
T


Y
 A


C
Q


U
IS


T
IO


N
 C


O
M


P
A


N
Y


 L
LC


C
IT


Y
 O


F 
S


T
O


U
G


H
T


O
N


D
A


N
E


 C
O


U
N


T
Y


, W
IS


C
O


N
S


IN


3701.021


MAY


PROPOSED BUILDING


INFILTRATION
BASIN


W
IL


LI
AM


S 
D


R
IV


E


PROPOSED OFFICE


GLACIER MORAINE DRIVE


EXISTING
OVERHEAD


PROPOSED PROPERTY LINE BOUNDARY


PROPOSED
PARKING
LOT


EXISTING
RIGHT-OF-WAY


PROPOSED
RIGHT-OF-WAY


300.0'


440.0'


200.0'


15.0'


675.0'


905.0'


875.0'


890.0'



AutoCAD SHX Text

061132490010



AutoCAD SHX Text

MOE FAMILY FARMS LLC



AutoCAD SHX Text

061132485601



AutoCAD SHX Text

1680 WILLIAMS DR



AutoCAD SHX Text

MOE FAMILY FARMS LLC



AutoCAD SHX Text

42"



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

WB-67



AutoCAD SHX Text

AASHTO 2018 (US)



AutoCAD SHX Text

(c) 2022 Transoft Solutions, Inc. All rights reserved.



AutoCAD SHX Text

N



AutoCAD SHX Text

SCALE: 1" = 50'



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

25



AutoCAD SHX Text

50



AutoCAD SHX Text

100



AutoCAD SHX Text

0



AutoCAD SHX Text

CONCEPT



AutoCAD SHX Text

02/24/22







A S S O C I A T E S ®


NOT FOR


CONSTRUCTION


SHEET


SUN PRAIRIE 2021
PROPERTY ACQUISITION COMPANY LLC


OVERALL SITE PERSPECTIVE


FIGURE A


PROJECT DELTA


NO. REVISION DATE:







± 46'-0"


ABD H


± 46'-0"


± 38'-0"


A B C DE


± 38'-0"


± 46'-0"


± 26'-0"


A BBC DEFG JK


± 46'-0"


± 38'-0"


± 26'-0"


A B EH


A S S O C I A T E S ®


NOT FOR


CONSTRUCTION


SHEET


SUN PRAIRIE 2021
PROPERTY ACQUISITION COMPANY LLC


OVERALL ELEVATIONS


FIGURE B


PROJECT DELTA


FIGURE B
1 EAST ELEVATION


FIGURE B
2 WEST ELEVATION


FIGURE B
3 SOUTH ELEVATION


FIGURE B
4 NORTH ELEVATION


A INSULATED METAL PANEL (IMP) - EMBOSSED MESA PROFILE - PAINT WHITE


INSULATED PRECAST CONCRETE WALL PANEL - STAINED FINISH - COLOR TBD


HORIZONTAL METAL SIDING - PAINTED FINISH - COLOR TBD


HORIZONTAL RIBBED METAL SIDING OR PERFORATED METAL SCREEN - PAINTED FINISH - COLOR TBD


ALUMINUM WINDOW SYSTEM - FRAME COLOR TBD - CLEAR OR LIGHT GRAY GLASS


PREFABRICATED ENTRANCE CANOPY - PAINTED FINISH - COLOR TBD


HORIZONTAL SHADES - FINISH TBD


INSULATED HOLLOW METAL DOOR AND FRAME - PAINTED FINISH - COLOR TBD


INSULATED OVERHEAD SECTIONAL DOOR AND DOCK CANOPY - PAINTED WHITE FINISH


CUSTOM SIGNAGE - PAINTED FINISH - COLOR TBD


B


C


D


E


F


G


H


J


K


NO. REVISION DATE:







A S S O C I A T E S ®


NOT FOR


CONSTRUCTION


SHEET


SUN PRAIRIE 2021
PROPERTY ACQUISITION COMPANY LLC


PERSPECTIVES


FIGURE C.1


PROJECT DELTA


NO. REVISION DATE:


OVERALL NORTHWEST PERSPECTIVE







A S S O C I A T E S ®


NOT FOR


CONSTRUCTION


SHEET


SUN PRAIRIE 2021
PROPERTY ACQUISITION COMPANY LLC


PERSPECTIVES


FIGURE C.2


PROJECT DELTA


OVERALL SOUTHEAST PERSPECTIVE


NO. REVISION DATE:







A S S O C I A T E S ®


NOT FOR


CONSTRUCTION


SHEET


SUN PRAIRIE 2021
PROPERTY ACQUISITION COMPANY LLC


PERSPECTIVES


FIGURE C.3


PROJECT DELTA


OVERALL SOUTHWEST PERSPECTIVE


NO. REVISION DATE:







A S S O C I A T E S ®


NOT FOR


CONSTRUCTION


SHEET


SUN PRAIRIE 2021
PROPERTY ACQUISITION COMPANY LLC


PERSPECTIVES


FIGURE C.4


PROJECT DELTA


OFFICE SOUTHWEST PERSPECTIVE


NO. REVISION DATE:







A S S O C I A T E S ®


NOT FOR


CONSTRUCTION


SHEET


SUN PRAIRIE 2021
PROPERTY ACQUISITION COMPANY LLC


PERSPECTIVES


FIGURE C.5


PROJECT DELTA


NO. REVISION DATE:


OFFICE NORTHWEST PERSPECTIVE







Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO, USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL, Ordnance Survey, Esri Japan,
METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), (c) OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS User Community


Moe Farm - Production Facility Lands


Dane County Mask
Dane County Mask
Parcels


March 8, 2022 0 380 760190 Feet


¯


X







W
ill


ia
m


s 
D


r


Marie
Dr


Johnson Ct


Moe Cir


Pa
ul


i C
t


Greig Trl


nn
er


 L
n


N
or


se
 P


kw
y


P
ro


gr
es


s
Ln


Mellum Dr


Se
a


m


onson Cir


Nordic Trl


Carl Ave


S
aw


ye
r R


d


Christiansen Way


Business Park Cir


")B


Glacier Moraine Dr


X







S:\Planning\Developments\Moe Farm\Proposed Food Production Facility 2022\Concept Plan Prelim Review.docx 


CITY OF STOUGHTON    RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF      DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest St., Stoughton, WI. 53589 
 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 
 
 


 
 
         February 28, 2022 
James Ternus 
Strand Associates 
910 West Wingra Drive 
Madison, WI. 53715 
 
 
Dear Mr. Ternus: 
 
I have completed a review of the proposed Planned Development – Concept Plan to develop 
approximately 19 acres of the Moe Farm located at the northeast corner of Williams Drive and 
Glacier Moraine Drive.  Annexation and urban service area amendment requests are anticipated.  
The following items are identified for your review.  (we’ll need a scalable or fully dimensioned 
plans for future reviews) 
 
1. The proposed property is currently under County Zoning as agricultural land in the Town of 


Pleasant Springs and is currently proposed to be annexed to the City of Stoughton.  Once 
annexed the zoning is expect to transition to RH – Rural Holding and then to PD – Planned 
Development.  This Planned Development Concept Plan proposes a food production and 
storage facility use. 
 


2. The City of Stoughton, Future Land Use Map depicts this property as Planned Industrial 
zoning which meets the proposed uses.   


 
3. The Planned Industrial use is defined as follows:  “This district is intended to permit both 


large and small scale industrial and office development at an intensity which is consistent 
with the overall desired suburban community character of the community. Beyond a 
relatively high minimum green space ratio (GSR), the primary distinguishing feature of this 
district is that it is geared to indoor industrial activities which are not typically associated 
with high levels of noise, soot, odors and other potential nuisances for adjoining 
properties.”  “Rationale: This district is intended to provide a location for suburban intensity 
light industrial land uses such as assembly operations, storage and warehousing facilities, 
offices, and light manufacturing which are protected from potential nuisances associated 
with certain development permitted within the PI District. In addition, land uses shall 
comply with the minimum performance standards presented in article VII.” 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





S:\Planning\Developments\Moe Farm\Proposed Food Production Facility 2022\Concept Plan Prelim Review.docx 


4. The following principal and conditional uses are allowable within the Planned Industrial 
district:   
 
Office.  Description: Office land uses include all exclusively indoor land uses whose primary 
functions are the handling of information or administrative services. Such land uses do not 
typically provide services directly to customers on a walk-in or on-appointment basis.  
 
Indoor storage or wholesaling.  Description: Indoor storage and wholesaling land uses are 
primarily oriented to the receiving, holding, and shipping of packaged materials for a single 
business or a single group of businesses. With the exception of loading and parking facilities, 
such land uses are contained entirely within an enclosed building. Examples of this land use 
include conventional warehouse facilities, long-term indoor storage facilities, and joint 
warehouse and storage facilities. 
 
Light industrial land use.  Description: Light industrial land uses are industrial facilities at 
which all operations (with the exception of loading operations): 1) are conducted entirely 
within an enclosed building; 2) are not potentially associated with nuisances such as odor, 
noise, heat, vibration and radiation which are detectable at the property line; 3) do not pose a 
significant safety hazard (such as danger of explosion); and 4) comply with all of the 
performance standards listed for potential nuisances in article VII. 
 
Distribution center.  Description: Distribution centers are facilities oriented to the short-term 
indoor storage and possible repackaging and reshipment of materials involving the activities 
and products of a single user. 
 


5. The Planned Development District is intended to provide incentives for redevelopment in 
areas of the community which are experiencing a lack of reinvestment, or which require 
flexible zoning treatment because of factors which are specific to the site.  This district is 
designed to forward both aesthetic and economic objectives of the City by controlling the site 
design and the land use, appearance, density or intensity of development within the district in 
a manner which is consistent with the sound land use, urban design, and economic 
revitalization principles.  The application of these standards will ensure long-term progress 
and broad participation toward these principles.  Section 78-914 provides regulations which 
govern the procedure and requirements for review and approval/denial, of the proposed 
Planned Development, and to provide for the possible relaxation of certain development 
standards pertaining to the underlying standard zoning district.  The standard zoning 
district for this type of development is Planned Industrial.  The future General 
Development Plan will be reviewed according to the PI district requirements.  
Currently the only exception being requested is for a higher building height from 40 
feet to 49 feet. 
 


6. The Planned Development: Concept Plan requirements per zoning code section 78-914(6) are 
as follows: 
1. A location map of the subject property and its vicinity at 11 inches by 17 inches, as 


depicted on a copy of the City of Stoughton Planned Land Use Map;  Provided by staff 
2. A general written description of proposed PD including:  







S:\Planning\Developments\Moe Farm\Proposed Food Production Facility 2022\Concept Plan Prelim Review.docx 


a. General project themes and images;  Provided 
b. The general mix of dwelling unit types and/or land uses;  N/A 
c. Approximate residential densities and non-residential intensities as described by 


dwelling units per acre, floor area ratio and impervious surface area ratio;  N/A 
d. The general treatment of natural features;  N/A 
e. The general relationship to nearby properties and public streets; Provided 
f. The general relationship of the project to the comprehensive plan; Provided 
g. An initial draft list of zoning standards which will not be met by the proposed PD 


and the location(s) in which they apply and, a complete list of zoning standards 
which will be more than met by the proposed PD and the location(s) in which 
they apply, as compared to the most comparable zoning district(s). Essentially, the 
purpose of this listing shall be to provide the plan commission with information 
necessary to determine the relative merits of the project in regard to private 
benefit versus public benefit, and in regard to the mitigation of potential adverse 
impacts created by design flexibility; and  Provided 


3. A written description of potentially requested exemption from the requirements of the 
most comparable zoning district, in the following order:  
a. Land use exemptions; N/A 
b. Density and intensity exemptions; N/A 
c. Bulk exemptions; Provided (Building height of 40’ to 49’) 
d. Landscaping exceptions; N/A 
e. Parking and loading requirements exceptions; N/A 


4. A conceptual plan drawing (at 11 inches by 17 inches) of the general land use layout and 
the general location of major public streets and/or private drives. The applicant may 
submit copies of a larger version of the "bubble plan" in addition to the 11 inches by 17 
inches reduction.  Electronic copy provided 
a. Within ten working days of receiving the draft PD concept plan submittal packet, 


the zoning administrator shall determine whether the submittal is complete. Once 
the zoning administrator has received a complete packet, the proposed PD concept 
plan shall be placed on the plan commission agenda.  Found to be complete on 
Feb 28, 2022.  Plan Commission meeting set for March 14, 2022 


b. At the plan commission meeting, the applicant shall engage in an informal 
discussion with the plan commission regarding the conceptual PD. Appropriate 
topics for discussion may include the any of the information provided in the PD 
concept plan submittal packet, or other items as determined by the plan 
commission.   Applicant expected to attend March 14th meeting 


c. Points of discussion and conclusions reached in this stage of the process shall be 
in no way be binding upon the applicant or the city, but should be considered as 
the informal, non-binding basis for proceeding to the next step. The preferred 
procedure is for one or more iterations of plan commission review of the concept 







S:\Planning\Developments\Moe Farm\Proposed Food Production Facility 2022\Concept Plan Prelim Review.docx 


plan to occur prior to introduction of the formal petition for rezoning which 
accompanies the GDP application.  GDP application expected to include 
recommendations from the Concept Plan review. 


 
 
 


 
 


If you have any questions, please contact me at 608-646-0421 
 


    
    Sincerely, 
    City of Stoughton 
 
    Michael P. Stacey 
    Michael P. Stacey 
    Zoning Administrator 





		Strand Associates, Inc.® (Strand) is representing the Applicant, and, on behalf of the Applicant, Strand is submitting this Planned Development Application (Application) for the proposed Development for the purposes of developing the agricultural prop...

		2022-02-28 Conceptual Site Plan.pdf

		Sheets and Views

		Stoughton Preliminary Site Plan (2)

		Plot









		Applicant Name: Strand Associates, Inc. - Jim Ternus

		Applicant Address: 910 West Wingra Drive, Madison, WI  53715

		Applicant Phone and Email: 608-251-4843, jim.ternus@strand.com

		Property Owner Name if different than applicant: Sun Prairie 2021 Property Acquisition Company, LLC.

		Property Owner Phone: Rob Fisher 850-251-8176

		Subject Property Address: NE Corner of Williams Drive and Glacier Moraine Drive

		Date: 02/28/2022

		Application fee of: 0

		Date_2: N/A

		Check Box43: Yes

		Check Box44: Yes

		Check Box45: Yes

		Check Box46: Off

		Check Box47: Off

		Check Box48: Yes

		Check Box49: Yes

		Check Box50: Yes

		Check Box51: Yes

		Check Box57: Off

		Check Box58: Off

		Check Box59: Off

		Check Box60: Off

		Check Box52: Yes

		Check Box53: Yes

		Check Box61: Off

		Check Box62: Off

		Check Box63: Off

		Check Box54: Off

		Check Box55: Off

		Check Box56: Off

		Check Box64: Off

		Check Box65: Off








T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2022\031422\PC Info\3060 Shadyside Drive CSM ETJ Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 
 
 


 
Date:  March 8, 2022 
 
To:  Plan Commissioners and Common Council    
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the March 14, 2022 Plan Commission Meeting and  


March 22, 2022 Common Council Meeting. 
 


Extra-Territorial Certified Survey at 3060 Shadyside Drive, Town of Pleasant Springs. 
This property is within the City of Stoughton’s 1.5 mile extra-territorial jurisdiction but is beyond 
the City’s Planned Urban Development Area as identified on the Comprehensive Plan Future Land 
Use Map.  This request is combine a vacated street with an existing residential parcel. 
 
Any approval should be contingent on Town of Pleasant Springs and Dane County approval.  The 
resolution, CSM and related materials are provided.  A recommendation to Council is necessary. 
  
 
   
 
 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. FORREST STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 
 
Approving an extra-territorial jurisdictional (ETJ) certified survey map (CSM) for property located at 
3060 Shadyside Drive, Town of Pleasant Springs, Dane County, Wisconsin. 


 
Committee Action: 


 
Plan Commission recommends Council approval   - 0 


 
Fiscal Impact: 


 
None  


File Number: 
 
R -  - 2022 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
 


The City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, Common Council does proclaim as follows: 
 
WHEREAS, this CSM approval request is proposed to combine the vacated Cherry Drive to the adjacent 
residential parcel in the Town of Pleasant Springs; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Comprehensive Plan is used as a guide for the general pattern of development as 
determined by the Plan Commission and Common Council. This property is within the City’s Extraterritorial 
Jurisdiction (ETJ) and is beyond the Planned Urban Development Area of the City of Stoughton; and 
 
WHEREAS, on March 14, 2022 the Stoughton Plan Commission reviewed the CSM request and 
recommends Common Council approval as presented; now therefore 
  
BE IT RESOLVED, by the City of Stoughton Common Council that the extra-territorial jurisdictional CSM 
request for property located at 3060 Shadyside Drive, Town of Pleasant Springs, is hereby approved 
contingent on Town of Pleasant Springs and Dane County approval. 
 
 
 
 
Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote       
  
 
Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  
 
                                                     
Tim Swadley, Mayor       Date 


 
Council Action:           Override  Vote       
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Resolutions\3060 Shadyside Drive ETJ CSM.doc 



























X








T:\PACKETS\PLAN COMMISSION\2022\031422\PC Info\78-405 Memo.doc 


 
 


CITY OF STOUGHTON  RODNEY J. SCHEEL 
DEPARTMENT OF    DIRECTOR 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
207 S Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 
(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 
 
 


 
 
Date:  March 8, 2022 
 
To:  Plan Commissioners and Common Council    
   
From:  Rodney J. Scheel 
  Director of Planning & Development 
 
  Michael P. Stacey 
  Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner 
 
Subject: Agenda Item for the March 14, 2022 Plan Commission Meeting and  


Common Council Meetings of March 22 and April 12, 2022. 
 
Proposed ordinance amendment to section 78-405(4). 
This ordinance amendment is proposed to change the word handicap to accessible as an allowable 
intrusion into certain yards.  A public hearing and recommendation to Council is necessary.  The 
ordinance is provided.   
  
 
   
 
 


 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Ordinance Amendment Notices\Zoning 78-405.doc 


NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 


The City of Stoughton Plan Commission will hold a Virtual Public Hearing on Monday, March 14, 
2022 at 6:00 o’clock p.m., or as soon after as the matter may be heard, to consider a proposed zoning 
ordinance amendment to the City of Stoughton Municipal Code of Ordinances, Section 78-405 (4).  
The proposed amendment is related to permitting yard intrusions.   
 
See additional information at: http://stoughtoncitydocs.com/planning-commission/ 
 
You can join the meeting via Zoom or Phone below: 
https://zoom.us/j/94609974784?pwd=eUUyV3g3anpKSzRkQWVHTUtHT3NFQT09 
 
Phone in:  +1 312 626 6799      Meeting ID: 946 0997 4784  Passcode: 427325 
 
If you wish to call in and speak at the meeting, please register at: http://speak.cityofstoughton.com by 
5:45 on or before the day of the meeting. Any written comments will be forwarded on to the 
“Organizer” and Commissioners. 
 
For questions regarding this notice please contact Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator at 608-646-
0421.   
 
     
Published February 3 and 10, 2022 Hub 



http://speak.cityofstoughton.com/





\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Chapter 78\Amend Section 78-405.docx 


CITY OF STOUGHTON, 207 S. Forrest Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


Amending Zoning Code Section 78-405 (4) of the Stoughton Municipal Code 


Committee 


Action:    


Plan Commission recommends approval  - 0 


Fiscal Impact:       None 


File Number: O -   - 2022 Date Introduced:   


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton do ordain as follows: 


 


Sec. 78-405 (4) Permitted intrusions into required yards: The following intrusions by buildings 


and structures are permitted into the specified required yards:  


(a) Permitted intrusions into required front or street yards: 


1. Chimneys, flues, sills, pilasters, lintels, ornamental features, cornices, eaves, and 


gutters for residential buildings; provided they do not extend more than two and 


one-half feet into the required yard.  


2. Yard lights, ornamental lights, and nameplate signs for residential lots, provided 


that they comply with the illumination requirements of section 78-707 and 


provided they do not locate closer than five feet from the front or street property 


line.  


3. Terraces, uncovered porches, decks, stoops, or similar appurtenances to 


residential buildings which do not extend above the floor level of the adjacent 


building entrance; provided they do not locate closer than 20 feet from any street 


right-of-way.  


4. Fences on residential or nonresidential lots which do not exceed four feet in 


height; provided they do not locate closer than six inches to any street right-of-


way. Permitted fence types shall comply with the provisions of section 78-718.  


5. Steps.  


6. Handicap a Accessible ramps and similar features.  


 


(b) Permitted intrusions into required rear or side yards: 


1. Sills, chimneys, flues, pilasters, lintels, ornamental features, cornices, eaves, and 


gutters for residential buildings; provided they do not extend more than two and 


one-half feet into the required yard.  


2. Fences are permitted in required rear or side yards subject to the provisions of 


section 78-718.  


3. Fire escapes (on residential buildings) which do not extend more than three feet 


into the required yard.  


4. Accessible ramps and similar features. 


 


 







\\Sto-fs1\city-shared$\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Chapter 78\Amend Section 78-405.docx 


 


 


(c) Permitted intrusions into required rear yards: 


1. Terraces, steps, uncovered porches, decks, stoops, or similar appurtenances to 


residential buildings which do not extend more than one foot above grade; 


provided they do not locate closer than twenty feet to the rear lot line.  


2. Accessible ramps and similar features. 


 


 


 


  


 


This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its date of publication. 


 


Dates 


 


Council Adopted:   


 


Mayor Approved:            


      Tim Swadley, Mayor 


Published:    


 


Attest:             


       Candee Christen, City Clerk 





